
Contact:  Sarah Baxter 
Tel: 01270 686462
E-Mail:          sarah.baxter@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Corporate Parenting Committee
Agenda

Date: Tuesday, 18th September, 2018
Time: 4.00 pm
Venue: Committee Suite 2/3 - Westfields, Middlewich Road, Sandbach, 

CW11 1HZ

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and in the report.

It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision making and 
Overview and Scrutiny meetings are audio recorded and the recordings will be uploaded to 
the Council’s website.

PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT

1. Apologies for Absence  

To receive any apologies for absence.

2. Declarations of Interest  

To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests in any item on the agenda.

3. Minutes of Previous meeting  (Pages 3 - 8)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 3 July 2018.

4. Input from Children and Young People  

To receive a verbal update on the Input from Children and Young People.

mailto:sarah.baxter@cheshireeast.gov.uk


5. Independent Reviewing Officer Annual Report, 2016-17  (Pages 9 - 42)

To consider the Independent Reviewing Officer Annual Report, 2016-17.

6. Corporate Parenting Performance Scorecard  (Pages 43 - 50)

To consider the Corporate Parenting Performance Scorecard.

7. Being a Good Corporate Parent - Workstream Update  

To receive a presentation.

8. Corporate Parenting Update  (Pages 51 - 56)

To receive an update.



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL

Minutes of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Committee
held on Tuesday, 3rd July, 2018 in Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, 

Middlewich Road, Sandbach CW11 1HZ

PRESENT

Councillor J Saunders (Chairman)
Councillor D Flude (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors L Durham, S Gardiner, M Grant, G Hayes, O Hunter and G Merry

Officers in attendance:
Gill Betton – Head of Service: Children’s Development and Partnerships
Kerry Birtles – Head of Service: Cared for children and Care Leavers
Nigel Moorhouse – Director of Children’s Social Care
Angela Murney – Youth Support
Sue Preston – Advocacy/ Service Manager the Children’s Society
Annie Sanderson – Lead Participation Worker Youth Support
Cherry Foreman – Democratic Services Officer

1 APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN 

RESOLVED

That Councillor J Saunders be appointed Chairman of the Committee for the 
Municipal Year 2018/19.

Councillor Saunders took the Chair.

2 APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIRMAN 

RESOLVED

That Councillor D Flude be appointed Vice-Chairman of the Committee for the 
Municipal Year 2018/19.

3 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors P Butterill and M Warren.

4 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

5 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED



That the minutes of the meeting held on 9 May 2018 be approved as a correct 
record.

6 PARTICIPATION AND ENGAGEMENT 

Participation and Engagement and Input from Children and Young People

The Committee welcomed members of the youth support team and also a young 
representative who was attending on behalf of children and young people.  
Members received a short presentation on VOICE (voice of in care experience), a 
newly developed publication due to be launched at a party in September, and on 
the activities and participation events held during the last year.  Members were 
keen to be involved in the launch if possible and to be able to engage directly 
with the young people.

In considering how the Council might do more to help young people in care it was 
suggested that more information could be displayed in schools and meeting 
places to encourage a larger number of young people in care to engage in events 
available to them.  

Members were keen for this innovative project to be recognised more widely for 
the benefit of the team and young people involved; it was agreed that this, and its 
suitability for inclusion in the STAR Awards, be further investigated.  It was 
reported that other North West authorities were already looking at how they could 
develop such a project it in their own area.  

RESOLVED

1. That the youth support team and young persons representative be 
thanked for their attendance.

2. That further investigation be made as to how work on the VOICE project 
could best be recognized.

The Advocacy and Independent Visitor Report

The Committee considered a report on the work of the Children’s Society in 
delivering the Children’s Rights and Advocacy Service for Cheshire East. This 
was the fourth year of delivery in this way.  Members asked a number of 
questions and received confirmation that:

 Whilst the number of independent visitors might seem low it had always 
been around this figure and was on a par with those nationally.  
Volunteers were always being sought and a leaflet was circulated to all 
Members on how to be involved.  The number of interventions were kept 
to a minimum wherever possible and requests for visits were assessed on 
a case by case basis.

 The service was available to all young people aged 0-25 yrs in all types of 
care; a language line was also available if needed.  

RESOLVED



That the report be noted.

7 CORPORATE PARENTING ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18 

Consideration was given to the Annual Report of the Committee for 2017/18 
covering its work over that period in ensuring the Council effectively discharged 
its role as corporate parent for all children and young people in care and care 
leavers from 0-25.  The Committee welcomed the report and felt it provided a 
comprehensive a positive picture with useful year on year benchmarking.  

During the discussion and in response to points raised by the Committee it was 
reported that:

 In the light of the findings of Mark Riddell, the National Implementation 
Adviser for Care Leavers, the Council’s ‘corporate test’ had now been 
strengthened by the inclusion of the Portfolio Holder as a Member of the 
Committee.  Feedback following the report had also been taken into 
account in the Corporate Parenting Strategy for 2018 – 20.  

 The newly established Shared Foster Care Service with the neighbouring 
authorities of Cheshire West and Chester, Halton, and Warrington was 
already showing benefits and a targeted campaign to recruit more foster 
carers had already seen an increase in expressions of interest. Additional 
ways were now being considered as to how this and other shared 
services might be developed.      

 The Children and Families Scrutiny Committee would be reviewing school 
leavers/children in care as part of a their study of their SEND review.  

 The establishment of the Positive Parenting Groups, to support pregnant 
and parent female care leavers, was working well and Members asked for 
a more detailed report on this to be submitted to a future meeting the 
Committee.  A report on the Family Nurse Partnership due to be 
considered at the next meeting would also connect with this area of 
support and care.  

 The virtual School was currently working to appraise all its students and to 
prepare a trajectory for their future attainments so as to know how best to 
get them there.

RESOLVED

That the Annual Report of the Committee be noted.

8 CORPORATE PARENTING FRONTLINE VISITS 

The Committee considered a report on developments in the establishment of 
corporate frontline visits, an important aspect of strengthening its corporate 
parenting role and in enhancing members understanding of services for cared for 
children and care leavers.  The visits planned were based around the ‘signs of 



safety’ model and the report included guidance on procedure and also a 
suggested feedback form which would also be used to populate the annual 
report.  

In addition a Committee training session was proposed which it was noted would 
be rolled out as a mandatory training for all Members of the Council in their 
capacity as a corporate parent after its initial pilot with the Committee. Members 
were advised of the need for them to ensure their DBS records were fully up to 
date in order to take part in visiting programme.

RESOLVED

1. That the report, and arrangements for DBS checks, be noted

2. That the proposed guidance and associated forms, as shown in appendix 
1 of the report, be endorsed.

9 CORPORATE PARENTING UPDATE 

Members received an update on relevant national and local developments. 

A resume of the following national developments was given:

 Care Crisis Review
 Changes to apprenticeship funding

With regard to apprenticeships it was confirmed that Cheshire East Council would 
be facilitating apprenticeships across the full range of its 500 different services.   

Local Developments reported on included:

 Corporate Parenting Strategy Development
 Developing the local offer
 Children and Young Peoples Conference
 Star Celebrations
 New Tender for Children’s Residential Care
 Fostering Collaboration Update
 Re-render for Advocacy and Independent Visitor Services
 Corporate Parent Pen Pictures
 Signs of Safety Training

Councillor Gill Merry agreed to be the Committees representative on the Being a 
Good Corporate Parent Group, to meet quarterly, aimed at developing ways of 
improving participation with cared for young people and strengthening the 
corporate parent role with Members, staff and partner agencies.

Members discussed the pen pictures and their importance in sharing knowledge 
of them as corporate parents.  It was agreed that they each review and approve 
their final portrait prior to them being added to the Face Book page.  

RESOLVED

1. That the report be noted.



2. That the proposed governance to support the implementation of a new 
Corporate Parenting Strategy, shown in Appendix 1 of the report, be 
noted.

3. That Councillor Gill Merry be the representative for the Committee on the 
Being a Good Corporate Parent Group.

4. It be noted that all Members of the Committee were welcome to attend the 
Children and Young People’s Conference on 6 August 2018.

5. That plans for the Star Celebrations at Wychwood Park, Crewe, on 18 
November 2018 be noted.  

6. That Members each review their personal pen portrait prior to it being 
shared more widely as part of the information provided to cared for 
children on entering care. 

7. That Members confirm with the Head of Cared for Children and Care 
Leavers whether they are able to become a Signs of Safety Champion

The meeting commenced at 4.00 pm and concluded at 6.00 pm

Councillor J Saunders (Chairman)





1

Independent Reviewing Officers (IRO) 
ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

The contribution of 
Independent Reviewing 
Officers to quality assuring 
and improving the experiences 
of the cared for children and 
care leavers  



2

‘The IRO must be the visible 
embodiment of our 
commitment to meet our legal 
obligations to this special 
group of children. The health 
and effectiveness of the IRO 
service is a direct reflection of 
whether we are meeting that 
commitment, or whether we 
are failing.’

HHJ P. Jackson, FJR

The report covers the period of April 2017 to March 2018 and provides information about the practice of the IROs (cared for children) in relation 
to monitoring and reviewing of care planning and quality of services provided to children cared for or care leavers for Cheshire East Council. It 
meets the statutory requirement to produce the annual report and, whilst it follows the national guidelines regarding such reports, it also 
incorporates the framework for our local delivery model, Signs of Safety. 

The legislative framework regulating services of Independent Reviewing Officers (Children and Adoption Act 2002, Children and Young People 
Act 2008, IRO Handbook 2010 and Care Planning, Placement and Case Review Regulations 2010) imposes a specific set of statutory duties 
which all IROs are expected to execute in order to improve outcomes for the children in public care, in particular it specifies that IROs should:

 be social work professionals with at least 5 years post qualifying front line practice and 
supervisory/ managerial experience, 

 ensure that children’s views are heard, they are aware of their rights and entitlements and 
receive relevant services and support,

 consult children before reviews to keep their views and input central to the whole review 
process (particularly during the review meeting), 

 maintain overall objective sound consultation with parents, carers and others with significant 
involvement with the child and ensure they are involved and their views have been taken into 
account in relation to the care planning and review,

 monitor the local authority’s management of the child’s case at any time,
 attend any significant meeting or other type of review for the child,
 identify and challenge drift, delay and underperformance and make attempts to resolve them in 

a timely manner.

CHILDS STORY

The most important measure of success is where we can demonstrate that our intervention and the way we 
have worked has meant that a child’s needs are understood, these have shaped the plan for them, they are safe and secure in a 
permanent home, are given opportunity to achieve their potential and have a clear understanding of why we are involved in their lives. 
These are just two examples where practice has been outstanding and why:



3

Family A:
Two young children became cared following ongoing concerns for their care due to neglect and were placed within their extended family. The 
social worker was quick to form good relationships with the children and all the family members.  Care proceedings were issued in a timely 
way. The social worker co-ordinated a thorough care plan involving several agencies, and was praised within the proceedings by the Judge. 

Throughout the proceedings excellent child centred work was led and co-ordinated by the social worker including using words and pictures to 
explain to the children what had happened, what was going to happen but also obtained their wishes and feelings. This was an ongoing 
process throughout the proceedings which helped the children, and assisted all caring and supporting them to understand their needs and work 
together. 

The children have remained with family members who they know throughout proceedings, and they continued to have positive contact with 
other family members. The children were able to remain in their schools and continue their friendships and the stability this offered them. 

The children now reside permanently within their extended family. This is what the children wanted and there is a good support plan going 
forward for both carers and the children, including managing contact and relationships with wider family members.

Child A:

The outcome for this 17 year old has been positive for them and the practice that supported their journey is inspiring. He became cared for four 
years ago as part of a large sibling group. The match with his foster carers was informed and considered and has been effectively supported 
through challenges and as a result has been a good experience for him. The impact of this has been that he now has a really positive male role 
model in his life who has supported him to develop his self esteem, confidence and academic ability. 

Reviews are occasions where achievements are celebrated, such as GCSEs, driving, relationships and a Saturday job as well as being able to 
tackle worries and difficulties, such as the arrival of a new sibling and working through some negative feelings and emotions at a particularly 
difficult time for him.

This young person has a dynamic, personable and efficient social worker, who has developed a trusting working relationship with the young 
person. The worker is a skilled communicator and follows up things that need doing. For example this has resulted in a successful Criminal 
Injuries Compensation claim, considered introduction to his Personal Advisor where there was resistance to accept the need, and effective 
planning for Staying Put arrangements.



4

The outcome for this young person is that despite their difficult earlier experiences, they are achieving their potential, have gained in confidence 
and self-belief and have built networks and resilience to cope positively with future challenges.   

WHAT’S GONE WELL – MAIN THEMES

 We chaired 942 cared for and 271 Pathway Plan reviews (total of 1,213 reviews),

 From this figure, approx.18% (200) were initial reviews and approx. 12% (112) of all reviews required 2 or more meetings to conclude 
the ‘review series’, 

 99% of children participated in their reviews and 62% care leavers attended their Pathway Plan reviews,

 69% of children were seen by their IRO before reviews either as a separate visit to their placement or separate meeting on the day of 
the review and this evidences a clear commitment by the IROs to building and maintaining trusting relationships with children and 
consulting them before/ in between their reviews.

 Our shared commitment to ensuring  good practice standards and chairing good quality reviews producing relevant, comprehensive and 
good quality recommendations over the past three years has contributed to the decrease in number of reviews that required standing 
down when child/ parent or care plan were not ready for review from 63 in the preceding year to 54 this year 

 The commitment of the IRO’s meant that we managed a significant spike in demand without impact of delay in reviews for children and 
young people.



5

 We became a fully permanent team (Sep’17) with 9 full 
time IROs reviewing nearly 700 children and young people,

 We ensured new IROs are always recruited based on 
interviews conducted jointly with a children and young people’s 
panel,

 How we promote children’s rights and  involvement was 
independently evaluated by children and young people and in 
October’17 we were awarded ‘Investing in Children’ membership

 We developed a procedure and One Minute Guide for 
annual review meetings and adapted the template of the review 
minutes within the child’s record, 

 The ‘How am I getting on’ tool, to assess the emotional 
wellbeing of 16+ care leavers, developed in 2016-17, was 

integrated into Pathway Plans for care leavers and is now one of the key areas for care leavers’ assessments,

 We further strengthened our working relationship with CAFCASS and attended or hosted relevant joint meetings, 

 In May we co-organised and attended the North-West IRO conference in Manchester; in October we attended specialist training on the 
impact of Adult Attachment and held 2 Team Development days in September’17 and March’18,

 We led on the development of the collation of a baseline dataset on IRO activity within the North-West IRO managers forum to help 
compare performance of various IRO services in our region and obtain a relevant benchmarking tool,

 Individual IROs have now developed areas of specialism including: child and young person participation, children going missing and at 
risk of exploitation, children with disabilities and in transition to Adult services, care leavers, UASC (unaccompanied asylum seeking 
young people), links with fostering as well as with Adoption Counts (Regional Adoption Agency), Virtual School and children’s 
educational attainment and resilience, children’s health and links with designated nurses or SGO and early permanence oversight ,

 We co-delivered 2 Care Planning and Permanence masterclasses and undertook two joint and thematic audits with the Permanence 
service – one for children on care orders at home (North West audit) and another on quality of care planning meetings and reviews,

K
EY

 S
TA

TI
ST

IC
S

1, 213 cared for and Pathway Plan reviews – 53 more 
than last year

3746 consultation/ feedback forms sent - 787 received 

92% cared for reviews in timescales 

99% children 4+ year old participated in their reviews 

69% children consulted by IRO before review

54 good practice notifications – highest in 5 years 

147 practice alerts raised – 117 (80%) resolved 
informally 

7 disruption meetings chaired by IROs



6

 We developed a system for caseload weighting to make workload comparison and case allocations a fairer process,

 We undertook a number of themed reviews and started implementing Signs of Safety model in children’s reviews,

 Issues relevant to assessment and service provision for 16-17 years old young people who present as homeless led to an audit and 
subsequent report to senior managers with recommendations for improvement within this area of service which were all accepted,

 We celebrated when children received a good service – nearly 50% of all IRO notifications raised were about good practice – we also 
listened to social workers and developed a separate record to notify about good practice,

 We produced reports on the themes arising from practice alerts and good practice notifications twice last year and learning from 
practice alerts will also be discussed during monthly joint performance meetings (where fieldwork managers attend alongside IROs) with 
a brief update to senior managers on a quarterly basis to promote learning in a more timely way. An example of the impact of this was 
that this feedback on practice, contributed to formulation of a new Working Agreements procedure and planned Reg.24 policy update,

 We have worked with the fieldwork teams on ensuring that children’s court care plans are endorsed (or challenged) in a timely way by 
IROs before they reach court and we are now ahead of some other local authorities, both regionally and nationally, with this 
arrangement fully embedded,

 Improvement was also achieved with IROs authorising recording of their specific views in the social workers’ statements for court,

 IROs robustly scrutinised children’s plans and, where they disagreed with either the plan or accompanying support plan, discussion and, 
where appropriate, escalation took place which enabled sharing of differing perspectives and benefitted the final plan, on one occasion, 
the IRO’s position statement was required and submitted to the courts in relation to the IRO’s disagreement with the proposed final care 
plans for the children,

 The liaison and co-operation between IROs and team managers in the Permanence service has been particularly good and this was 
supported by a joint session for all above and their respective managers during a development day in September 2017,

 Audit of permanence plans at the point of the second review took place in February and March 2018 and supported agreement as to 
what constituted and should be expected of the ‘permanence plan’ options at that stage (also within the context of pending care 
proceedings),



7

 IROs provided feedback to the Fostering reviewing officer for the foster carers’ annual reviews, consulted on the Local Authority 
Sufficiency Statement, and shared their observations and concerns when appropriate with Placements and Commissioning teams.

 IROs recognised and celebrated good quality practice of partners through compliments to relevant carers/ agencies as well as 
supporting the work undertaken by the 16+ designated nurse and leaving care services on improving service provision for 
unaccompanied asylum seeking young people, pregnant care leavers as well as care leavers who became parents.

AREAS IDENTIFIED FOR FUTURE DEVELOPMENT – MAIN THEMES

 There were still occasions when the IRO availability/ capacity to endorse final care plans, was compromised by the limited time to 
acknowledge information from completed assessments or other pieces of evidence responsible for the shaping of the proposed final 
care plans, on occasion the delay is caused by late availability of the view of expert assessors.

 Some of the escalations and discussions took place late in the process; to resolve this, a discussion was held with legal department, 
CAFCASS and the judiciary within Cheshire and Merseyside courts to propose inclusion of the review date to endorse the final care 
plan within the court timetable at the beginning of the proceedings,

 A number of reviews were stood down due to the care plan not being ready for the review with the inevitable impact for children, carers 
and resources. It is acknowledged that care planning is complex and the view of external experts can impact on this, however, it has 
been rare for this to result in a need to stand a review down. 

 The Cared for Children Service identified in September that there were some challenges in the interface between themselves and 
health providers. An audit in February 2018 by the IRO service identified improvements were needed in child involvement in their 
medicals (Inc. adoption medicals) with more information to be gathered from families, the child themselves when possible, rather than 
being completed through a review of the child’s medical files and information from the foster carer. Improvements have been evidenced 
and reported on in Q1 and 2 this year.

 There have been occasions where there was inconsistency in case management, with allocations of sibling groups to two or more social 
workers and, at times, two different team managers whilst there is one allocated IRO (unless there is a clear conflict of interest between 
siblings), this was raised, based on information collated in Q1 and shared with operational senior managers:



8

                                    Q1 check - number of children in sibling group with number of SWs, TMs and IROs involved

2 siblings (1 of them a care leaver) – 2 SWs and 2 TMs – 1 IRO                        3 different groups of 2 siblings with  2 SWs and 2 TMs and 1 IRO each 

3 siblings – 2 SWs and 1 TM – 1 IRO                      3 siblings – initially 2 SWs + 2TMs – then 1 SW + 1TM – 1 IRO

2 groups of 4 siblings with 2 SWs and 1 TM  and 1 IRO each               1 group of 4 siblings with 2 SWs and 2 TMs – 1 IRO                 4 siblings  – 3 SWs and 2 TMs – 1 IRO

5 siblings – 2 SWs and 1 TM - 1 IRO                       5 siblings – 2 SWs and 2TMs – 1 IRO                    5 siblings (2 care leavers) – 2 SWs and 2 TMs + 2 PAs and 1 TM – 1 IRO

6 siblings  – 2 SWs and 1 TM – 1 IRO                      6 siblings –  2 SWs and 2 TMs  - 1 IRO                  Some care leavers who are siblings have different PAs each – 1 IRO

It was explained that such allocations occurred for children with significantly different care plans or where the older child in the sibling 
group got their 16+ worker (who had a different line manager) but also due to workload pressures and staffing changes; positively, it is 
anticipated that this area will remain under close scrutiny of managers to minimise potential risk of inconsistencies and uncoordinated 
plans for children; it is also reassuring that the new transfer policy reflects the need for an ongoing relationship between the allocated 
social worker and children once the care proceedings have ended when such an arrangement would benefit the implementation of their 
care plan.

 The liaison meetings between IROs and team managers have continued to be led by the IROs. These has not always occurred as 
frequently as planned which has challenged the aim to ensure ongoing dialogue and building mutual understanding based learning from 
escalations and good practice notifications. Positively, there has been some improvement noted recently,

 The need for consistency of financial support to connected carers assessed under Regulation 24 to become the child’s kinship (family 
and friends) foster carers, assumed to be provided on a ‘no prejudice’ basis reflecting existing fostering allowances, until the carers’ 
later approval at fostering panel is made (or declined); it is reassuring that the policy on Regulation 24 is being currently updated, and it 
is anticipated that the above issue will be resolved shortly,



9

 Some delays in notification when a child enters care, slows down the process of allocation of the child’s IRO and starting the 
consultation and preparation process for the 20 days/ initial cared for review; relevant data on late notifications has been collated and 
shared with operational managers to improve the situation,

 There is a challenge in relation to placement sufficiency, especially for those young people whose care plan included a need for a foster 
placement but where the lack of relevant placements meeting their needs led on occasion, to a residential placement. 

 The detailed minutes from Resource and Accommodation Panel which agrees new placements, provide agreed actions but the limited 
narrative from the discussions during the panel could give more clarity about the role of care planning meetings following RAP which 
would be useful, 

 The outcomes of stability and disruption meetings will support future joint learning to enhance planning and better outcomes for children 
and young people.

REVIEW OF PROGRESS AGAINST PRIORITIES FROM LAST YEAR AND OUR NEW TARGETS:

The IRO service was able to achieve most of the targets we set ourselves at the beginning of the year. Some of them will remain central to our 
focus and monitoring in the current year (2018-19) and have been recorded in red colour below:

Priority                                                 What was achieved and what still needs to be done
Strategy 
achieve 
and 
sustain 
stable, 
permanent 
staffing 
across the 
whole 
team 

 9 full time posts with permanent appointments from July 2017:
In July’17 we increased the capacity from 8 to 9 full-time posts and successfully appointed 4 IROs to achieve a fully permanent team since Sep’17.

 Support IRO capacity by use of Echo pens and audio transcription into narrative by Dragon software and use of Dictaphones:
We piloted both technologies and did not find the use of Echo pens useful; use of Dragon software was found supportive although we continued with the 
testing via other devices which would enable direct recording within the child’s file.  New targets: Finalise testing Dragon directly in LL, supply 
headsets and software where still needed and test mobile audio recording and IT security for transcribed narratives (by September 2018). 
Improve the timescales for completion of outcomes and decisions from reviews

 Complete caseload weighting process by July 2017:
Staffing changes and summer leave meant that this was achieved in September 2017. Since then, we have updated caseload scoring, in line with the 
ongoing changes, one more time in December 2017 and this enabled a more methodological and fair case allocation process.

 Support the development of the IRO service with specialist training and development – the IRO’s have had 2 team development days with 



10

thematic focus, and have had specialist training on adult attachment and child trauma to enhance their understanding and decision making
Practice 
and 
performa
nce: 
improve 
outcomes 
around 
primary 
indicators 
while 
enabling 
more 
confident 
and 
consistent 
practice 
across the 
team

 Achieve review timeliness at 99%
This year 92% of reviews were kept in timescales; the 8% outside of time was due to staffing changes, sickness and two periods of adverse weather 
preventing travel. Other reasons included the need to align the reviews for two siblings within the same family, crucial document/ evidence for care 
proceedings not made available, reviews being stood down or carried out as ‘series of meetings’ and occasionally IROs incorrectly calculating or 
recording the date of the last/ next review. Although out of statutory timescales the impact for children and young people was minimised in the prevailing 
majority of cases as the review went ahead within a few days of the due date.

 Complete 100% review outcomes in 5 working days:
IROs worked very hard to improve timeliness of outcomes from 76% last year and achieved 90% this year. Staffing, capacity and recording issues with 
IROs unable to create Outcomes for ‘series of meetings’ (where outcomes could only be created 5 days of the last meeting within the series). 
New target:  ensure 100% reviews occur in timescales and 95% review outcomes are completed in 5 days 

 Ensure child participation in cared for and Pathway Plan reviews is at 99% and 90%, respectively:
We achieved 99% of children participating in reviews and 62% care leavers in Pathway Plan reviews. Additionally, 69% children were visited and 
consulted by IROs before review (in their placement, sometimes at significant distance from CEC), marking 3% decrease from 72% last year. Children 
who declined an IRO visit often attended reviews, some had a phone conversation with IROs or had views represented by their social worker, parent, 
carer or advocate;
New target:  85% of children will be consulted by their IRO before review and 75% Care Leavers participating in their Pathway Plan reviews

 Maintain 95% of issues resolved informally or via DRP level 1:
This target was not met as there were 117 informal and 30 formal alerts, 12 of which were escalated and resolved via DRP beyond Level 1.
New target: maintain 95% or issue resolved informally or via formal DRP level 1 

Promote 
child’s 
voice 
through 
Anti-
oppressiv
e 
practice: 
promote 
children’s 
rights and 
ways in 
which 

 finalise a work stream, agree reference for use and produce RAG rating tool by Q2:
This tool was superseded by the implementation of SoS practice model and corresponding approach to evaluating quality of assessments and plans. 
However, examples of good assessments and plans were shared with managers in some liaison meetings. In March 2018, a joint audit was undertaken 
to evaluate quality of care planning meetings and following reviews. This supported insight into ‘what works well’ and ‘what’s not working’ in this area.

 achieve 50% return rate for child and parent consultation forms and 75% for health and education
The aspirational targets were not achieved but there was some improvement on last year (see section on consultation below for more details). 
New target: achieve 30% return rate for child and parent consultation forms whilst gradually increasing the rate of children and parents 
attending the reviews and 50% from health and education

 review implementation of the new Missing children workspace on LL child’s record and ensure a BO report is available by Q2
This was achieved and BO report on children missing was created, 
New Target: drive the need for risks to children and young people from going missing and exploitation to be identified and strategies to 
reduce those risks to identified in their Care plan - audit



11

children, 
parents 
and carers 
are 
engaged

 achieve the Investing in Children award in Q2 
This was achieved in October 2018 when the Investing in Children inspection was undertaken. The cared for IROs were involved in the submission 
process, particularly two IROs for whom children’s rights and participation is the leading specialism as well as another IRO who facilitated the young 
people’s presence and attendance on the day. New target: prepare and submit application for renewal of the award (due October 2019) 

The service will have a focus on achieving greater stability for Cared for Children for 2018/20, and improved outcomes will be agreed at joint 
performance meetings

Communi
cation 
and 
collaborat
ion: 
optimise 
and 
achieve 
consistenc
y and 
coherence 
when 
practice 
standards 
are 
applied in 
practice 
across all 
teams.

 Re-activate the lead IRO role in fostering matters and undertake joint audits with fostering service to produce an overview of 
disruption meetings in 2017

An IRO has a specialist role for this. They have established good links with the Fostering team and managers as well as the Fostering Reviewing 
Officer and this supported improved communication between the services. However, the joint audits of disruption meetings were 
completed by the IRO manager rather than jointly with the Fostering service due to changes within the management..  New target: 
disruptions audit to be agreed in Q2 and completed in Q3 to share findings at Practice/ Performance workshop in December 
‘18. Focus on preventing placement instability to be focus of joint performance meetings with a view to reducing the number of 
moves children experience and we know what works to sustain placements

 IROs to work with Designated nurses and Family support, Virtual School and fieldwork teams to review the use of SDQs and promote 
triangulation of the questionnaires with carers, young people and school completing them

Mostly achieved. Audit undertaken by IROs and subsequent drive to improve inclusion of SDQ under ‘emotional health’ in each statutory 
health assessment and ensure child is present at their health assessment (esp. adoptive one) seem to have a clear impact and follow up 
audit will confirm whether progress has been significant. Triangulation of SDQ was popularised with Virtual School who started raising 
awareness and arranged a specialist training for Designated teachers in summer 2018. New target: designated teachers and virtual 
school head to work together on wider use of SDQs and follow up audit of health assessments by IRO service jointly with 
designated nurse’s team to confirm what improvement has been made – complete by November’18.

 Further co-operation by IROs with Virtual School on timeliness and quality of PEPs and EHCPs and support to underachieving cared 
for children, esp. in alternative educational settings.

The above areas were raised and discussed during individual liaison meetings between the link IROs with the Virtual School Head, 
managers at Children with Disability team and the rest of the team during team development day. The focus on all above aspects 
remains an ongoing team target.

CONSULTATION PROCESS



12

The invite and consultation process remained one of the focal aspects of improving the overall review effectiveness. This was not without a 
level of ongoing reinforcement and reminding about the importance and impact of this process for the planned review outcomes but also future 
reference if the young person wishes to seek access to their records. There were 992 invites sent out by Business Support officers and 295 
invites were sent/ arranged differently. 514 review dates were changed – they were either cancelled, when the child was no longer cared for, 
rearranged, due to availability, or stood down, in line with the IRO’s statutory powers to prevent the review from being unproductive due to care 
plan or the child/ family not being prepared/ ready for the review. The following numbers of consultation and feedback documents were sent 
and received:

o Consultation form for children/young people (581 sent and 83 returned - 14%)
o Consultation form for parents (823 sent and 89 returned - 11%)
o Consultation form for foster carers/residential care (722 sent and 194 received - 29%)
o Consultation form for health (592 sent and 171 received - 29%)
o Consultation form for education (704 sent and 222 received - 32%)
o Email consultation with other professionals, esp. Children’s Guardian/ CAFCASS (694 sent and 54 received - 8%) 
o Feedback forms for care leavers (one for young people who attended and another for those who did not) after Pathway Plan reviews
o Feedback form for parents of care leavers for Pathway Plan reviews.

Comparison – consultations sent and received in 2016/17 and last year

87 91
191

104 133

606

83 89
194 171

222

759

Cared for 
Child

Parent Carer Health Education Subtotal:
0

200

400

600

800

Consultation Forms Received 2016/17
Consultation Forms Received 2017/18

429 492 496 319 431

2167

581
823 722 592 704

3422

Cared for 
Child

Parent Carer Health Education Subtotal:
0

1000

2000

3000

4000

Consultation Forms Sent 2016/17 Consultation Forms Sent 2017/18



13

The number of consultation forms distributed increased by 64% in 2017/18 compared to 2016/17. This included 229 more forms for children 
than last year and 381 more forms for parents being sent, with108 children and 92 parents responding although this did not allow for the 
aspirational target of 50% returns to be achieved. Improvement is being sought in relation to return rate by carers although views are provided 
at the review if a written report has not been provided.

Comparison feedback forms sent and received 2016/17 and last year – PP reviews

197

0

197

274

50

324

PWP Care Leaver Parent Subtotal:
0

100

200

300

400

Consultation Forms Sent 2016/17 Consultation Forms Sent 2017/18

21

0

21
25

3

28

PWP Care Leaver Parent Subtotal:
0

10

20

30

Consultation Forms Received 2016/17
Consultation Forms Received 2017/18  

Consultations with health and education (with the target of 75% return rate) saw 9% increase on last year, with 273 more consultations sent out 
to health and education with 67 and 89, respectively, more replies received from them. This meant an increase of consultation forms received 
from professionals of 9%. Details have been collated by the IRO Admin Team, who have also devised a relevant tracking system to produce 
the required data, which supports the ongoing monitoring of the quality of review preparation. Good attempts have been made to consult/ 
obtain feedback from care leavers who did not attend their reviews and 274 forms were sent with 25 replies; a feedback form created for 
parents of care leavers also started being sent to parents (if involved) and there were 3 replies from 50 parents contacted for feedback. The 
return rate remains our objective and further targeting of both not only child but also care leaver consultation and feedback has been 
undertaken through joint work with ‘My Voice’ group as well as all IROs during ongoing consultations and reviews. This targeted approach 
further encompasses dialogue with relevant agencies, including the designated nurses’ team as well as Virtual School. It is expected that as 
SoS becomes embedded the family networks for  cared for children will be much more embedded in the childs daily lived experience.



14

REVIEW ACTIVITY

2017/18 has seen a continuing growth in our cared for population, there has also been some placement instability, although a reduction in the 
number of children who experience 3+ placement moves. Children and young people in our care have continued to have episodes of going 
missing which impacts on IRO activity chairing trigger meetings. The team have experienced some  staff sickness this year, requiring covers 
and adverse weather conditions also impacted seeing children and young people, all of which have challenged the services flexibility and 
capacity to accommodate all reviews in timescales. 

Given the above, the increase in children participating in their reviews is a significant success and this is undoubtedly the result of the focus 
and priority given to this by the IROs, assisted by all posts becoming permanently filled through the year. These factors have enabled more 
meaningful and consistent relationships with the young people. There were 1213 cared for and Pathway Plan reviews. Also, although counted 
as one review, a number of reviews (on average 10% last year) required two or more meetings under the option of ‘series of meetings’ to 
enable effective and full participation. 

Increase in population and number of reviews – 4 year comparison

371 396 422 473

969 1119 1160 1213

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
0

500

1000

1500

2000

population

No of reviews

Increase in numbers of cared for reviews and Pathway Plan reviews reflected the increase in numbers of cared for children, the majority 
entering care with a court order. This reflects the national trend, and the pattern shared by many local authorities in the North-West region, with 
an increase in children remaining with parents on Care Orders at home. With 942 cared for and 271 Pathway plan reviews throughout the year, 
circa 92% cared for and 92% of Pathway Plan reviews were kept in timescales. The majority of delays did not exceed a few days, so the impact 
of delay for children and young people was minimal. It needs to be emphasised that a high proportion of children received 3 or more reviews in 



15

the year due to their case being in proceedings and plans requiring endorsement at various stages alongside plans for children on Placement 
Orders/ awaiting adoption which are reviewed every 3 months.

Timeliness of reviews and child participation in reviews – 4 year comparison

96%

91%

96%

99%

88%

91.70% 92% 92%

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
85%

90%

95%

100%

child participation

timeliness of reviews

It is particularly reassuring that 99% of children aged 4 and above participated in their reviews, which is the highest result over the last 4 years. 
Also, 62% of care leavers participated in their reviews – which indicates some improvement and needs to be seen in context of many reviews 
being re-arranged to suit the care leaver’s changing needs and own arrangements, at times still not leading to the young person being present 
at their review.

The majority of children (69%) were also visited in their placements or consulted before their review by the IROs to ensure how they lived and 
what they thought about their care plans and services they received. Many were also contacted by phone or text messages and communicated 
with their IRO in-between reviews. A number of children and care leavers have developed or maintained good, trusting relationships and a few 
were supported by their IROs whilst their complaints were being heard and resolved. Furthermore, over the last year, work has begun to adopt 
aspects of Child-centred reviews and focusing on making reviews more visual and informal by utilising things such as colouring pens, post-its 
and large flip chart paper. Feedback from young people was that this way of reviewing worked well and it helped to reengage young people that 
had previously not been interested in their reviews, disliked their reviews and/or found their reviews boring. Since this work started there has 
been the introduction of the Signs of Safety (SoS) model and work was started within the IRO service to implement the key aspects and ethos 
of this with the implementation plan aiming at fully aligning review meetings with the SoS model by the end of the year. 

Initial feedback regarding the development of reviews utilising a Child-centred review model and SoS and maintaining the visual element of 
reviews has been positive. Although relatively new, feedback from young people on this new concept of chairing reviews has managed to 



16

‘I like my meeting’

‘I got an explanation why I’m not with S. (old carer)’

‘I know what the SGO is now’

‘My IRO was descriptive’

Children’s feedback on reviews and their 
IRO

alleviate stress and anxiety for young people when they have a review upcoming, allow for young people to have a better understanding about 
their care plan and the review process and, more importantly, allow for young people to become more involved and participate meaningfully in 
their reviews. Over the last year IROs have also utilised a range of themes to encourage young people to attend their reviews stemming from a 
football themed review and a pug, French and a ‘bake off’ themed review. It is intended that these themes will continue to help merge the 
formal requirement of a statutory meeting with what is a purely relational experience for the child or young person, making reviews more laid 
back and more of a fun experience for children and young people inviting different format for discussions about risks and difficulties, alongside 
a focus on positivity, children’s strengths and their skills, enhancing resilience and encouraging children to choose positive alternative 
behaviours and activities.

PARTICIPATION

The IROs continued to focus on encouraging the participation of children and young people in their cared for reviews. 

The focus on IROs seeing children in their placements clearly impacted 
positively on the rates for children participating and present at their meetings. 
This contributed to more comprehensive understanding of children’s 
experiences through their views, wishes and feelings and development of 
lasting and trusting working relationships between the IROs and the children 
they are allocated to. Achieving team stability with all IROs permanent in their 
posts since September 2017 certainly supported this. IROs using a variety of 
tools and approaches to reviews further enhanced child participation. 
Simultaneously, overall participation of care leavers also improved although the 
rates for their presence in reviews were changing over the year with a couple of 
months when the presence was lower than in other months (August and February). 

IROs have used various ways of contacting young people like: letter, text or phone call to feed back/ reflect with the young person or a 
more child friendly/ edited version of the review report although this was not sent to all young people. 

Children’s rights: The team has a designated IRO with a strong Children’s Rights background. A participation group was developed by him, 
with support from another IRO colleague, and entailed a small group of children/ care leavers who reflected on their experience of the care and 
review process, shared their views about some of the tools and processes. Young people’s panel was also an integral part during the 



17

recruitment process for the last 4 appointed IROs from April to September 2017. One of the two designated IROs has also supported links with 
other leads in participation across other services and attended Participation Network meetings.

In October 2017, the IRO team obtained the ‘Investing in Children’ award for involving children in decision making and being based on the 
evaluation by the children. This preceded celebrating children’s achievements during the Local Authority annual Star Awards ceremony, where 
a designated IRO was part of the Steering Group, as well as November Hands Up for Children’s rights which was recognised and celebrated, 
with all IROs making their pledges with regards to further improve child participation within their scope of duties, particularly within the review 
meetings. 

The team remained committed to supporting children in need anywhere in the world and established a link with the managing Foundation of 
Good Hope Primary school in Uganda and supported by voluntary contributions the school’s new travel arrangements, after the children and 
the school old bus were involved in a serious accident after which the bus was no longer roadworthy. Later in the year, celebrating children’s 
achievement at their annual exams was supported by donations from distribution of Christmas cards with festive wishes which had been hand-
made by the children.

Participation Group:  The idea of maintaining co-operation and keeping communication between the IRO team and a small group of children 
and young people materialised with a couple of meetings taking place in addition to the group supporting our IRO recruitment process as the 
Young People’s recruitment panel. Gradually, it turned out that arranging meetings with children and young people and specialist IROs was 
becoming complicated, in large proportion due to the young people’s own circumstances and pressures within their own respective lives to 
attend these meetings. It was decided towards the later stages of 2017 that the young people involved with the IRO service so far could retain 
their specialist experience and knowledge and continue as links with the IRO service within the wider participation group ‘My Voice’ which was 
being re-launched. 

It was identified by the IROs as well as based on the feedback from young people that the consultation forms sent to young people as part of 
the review process required an update. In collaboration with ‘My Voice’, draft versions of consultation forms have been completed with the aim 
to make the forms more child friendly and quicker to complete. Two versions have been completed and work is currently being undertaken on 
the presentation and design of the consultation forms. It is estimated that by July 2018 the draft versions will be completed and forms can be 
trialled. There are further plans in place to also address the format and content of the information young people receive post review to capture 
the pertinent points and actions of the young people’s reviews. 

IROs and ‘My Voice Group’ (formerly Children in Care Council): Since the start of 2018, the IRO service worked a lot more closely with ‘My 
Voice’ group. Over the last few months there has been an IRO attending the ‘My Voice’ Group on a 4-6 weekly basis. It is hoped that having a 



18

consistent presence will allow for better working relationship with children who represent cared for and care leavers’ population. Although a new 
arrangement, this working partnership has allowed more children to have a better understanding of the role of an IRO and how IROs and the 
review process impacts upon their lives. The IRO attended ‘My Voice’ group development day recently where the working relationship was 
cemented; the long term goal to continue co-operation with ‘My Voice’ group further assumes liaison with a specific young person who would 
become the lead among cared for children to work a lot more closely with the IRO leads for participation. 

ADVOCACY AND INDEPENDENT VISITORS:

Over the last year a more effective working relationship between the Council’s independent advocacy service and the IRO service has been 
better established. The IRO service also maintained a contribution to quarterly contract monitoring meetings when discussing issues pertinent 
to advocacy and IVs. IROs also offered specific feedback about advocates enabling children to have their issues resolved and the role of the 
advocates in this process, especially when challenges were escalated by advocates. Further work was identified for the current year with the 
advocacy service and this includes plans for their representation of children’s voices in Stability and Disruption meetings, complaints and 
placement freeze process, should a child disagree with a plan to change their placement. It is anticipated that during the current year the above 
aims are achieved and the role of advocates will be clearly outlined in policy guidance. 

IRO ESCALATION

Alerts summary - three year annual comparison

11 10

54
73

122 117

24 24 30

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
0

50

100

150 good practice

informal alerts

formal alerts



19

‘Time could have been discussed – had to change things to 
be able to attend’ Carer on review being stood 
down

Analysis of data from 201 practice alerts and good practice notifications raised by IROs to all services across the department in 2017/18 
provides good evidence of greater balance and improved practice which is best seen when comparing corresponding data from the last 3 
years.

What’s gone well - IRO alerts and good practice notifications in the reporting year:

 significant increase in good practice notifications (54 notifications last year) with a 1:2 ratio to informal alerts (117 alerts last year),
 fewer practice alerts regarding issues with care plans,
 well embedded IROs endorsement of the court care plans, contributing to better permanence and support plans for children.

What we’ve been worried about:
 still too many reviews stood down due to care/ pathway plans 

not being ready for reviews – impacting on children/ parents/ 
carers and their availability, 

 gaps in consistent partnership working with service users IROs not being updated in a timely way when changes occur,
 issues not resolved informally by IROs and Team Managers and escalated formally (30 DRPs) to managers at more senior level, 

including resolution of issues about the final court care plans occurring at a very late stage (in some cases the day of the filing), 
 some lack of consistent practice when using accommodation under sec.20 with children.

What needs to change:
 issues need to be resolved promptly and with confidence between IROs and TMs,
 views of the child, parent and carer need to underpin the development of plans and these need to be shared with service users in a 

timely manner,
 similarly, final court care plans need to be shared more consistently with IROs in a timely manner,
 learning from thematic data on alerts needs to become well embedded.

The data on IRO alerts is proportional to the population of cared for children and their cases per any given service (hence Permanence team 
has more IRO alerts/ good practice notification than other services). The oversight of the fostering service performance is not a routine 
requirement for IRO and where alerts were raised for this service, this was in relation to instances of delay or deficiencies in matching or 
placing children linked to practice issues by the fostering service and not linked to the child’s social worker or their team. 



20

Good practice within Children with a Disability service has been recognised with no practice alerts raised last year (there were 3 in 2016/17) 
and overall 3 good practice notifications. The most balanced and improved practice was seen in Permanence (including Leaving Care service) 
with 22 good practice notifications and reduction from 68 to 45 practice alerts last year. Both CiN/ CP Crewe and CiN/ CP Macclesfield services 
were close behind, with Crewe service with 20 good practice notifications closely following the Permanence service. This is also a reflection of 
the action within the IRO service to proactively recognise good practice more systematically than we have in previous years. With the overall 
increase in formal alerts, the consistently high ratio of formal alerts in the first and second half of the year in CiN/CP Macclesfield service may 
require further reflection, although the reduction in alerts for reviews stood down in second half of the year, in this service clearly evidences 
improvement in this area.

9 20 22

3

0

25
41 45

0

6

11 9 8 0
2

Macc CiN/ CP Crewe CiN/ CP PTCT, inc. LC CwD Fostering
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%
Good practice

Informal alerts

Formal alerts

 

Alerts distribution across the department annual summary

Good working relationships with the child make for the highest number of good practice notifications across the department (31) with 
Permanence taking the lead, followed by (at nearly identical level in both halves of the year), CiN/ CP Macclesfield then CiN/ CP Crewe and 
CwD service. The process of raising good practice notifications include clear commentary to the involved social worker’s manager about how 
the good practice impacted/ improved the child’s experience. Team manager respond to these alerts promptly and appreciate IROs’ feedback.

                   GOOD PRACTICE NOTIFICATION THEMES No of 
times 
evidenced 

CiN/ CP 
Macc     

CiN/ CP 
Crewe

Perm inc. 
L/ Care

CwD

Consistently good practice 25 6 3 16

Exemplary practice in advocating for or supporting the child 25 4 11 9 2

Lived experience well evidenced 6 3 1 2



21

Good quality assessment or plan 21 1 7 11 2

Good working relationship with the child  31 9 8 13 2

Good relationship with others - supportive/ empathetic relationship with carers at 
critical time

1 1

Good practice in advocating for the child and supporting the child led to ‘consistently good practice’ notifications (25). Good quality assessment/ 
plan were identified mainly in the Permanence service followed by CiN/CP Crewe. Particularly reassuring are notifications regarding 
consistently good practice for children (shared 25 times)

The number of alerts in relation to reviews stood down due to the lack of an updated care plan ready for review has been a significant issue 
and a resource implication which only improved significantly for CiN/CP Macclesfield during the year, whilst both CiN/ CP Crewe and 
Permanence service had an increase in numbers of reviews stood down. This seems to reflect the impact of staffing changes, including team 
managers affecting their availability for consistent oversight in the second half of the year. Not sharing of either care plans or other documents 
with the child and/or their parents or carers was another issue where concern diminished during the second half of the year, possibly due to the 
decrease in the care proceedings.

There were 9 alerts which required resolution at Stage 2 with HoS and 3 alerts (one sibling group) at Stage 3 with ADCS. The DRPs (Dispute 
Resolution Process) evidences IROs’ diligence in striving to reach the outcome and resolution for alerts they were not able to resolve informally 
at first and/ or needed to resolve them in a timely manner. Complying with statutory requirements, through the interface of IROs with more 
senior managers, the DRPs provide a learning opportunity for both parties to gain more experience and confidence in its use, which supports 
the culture of positive challenge. The subject matters raised in DRPs provide an excellent source of support for reflecting on practice and 
learning as well as further practice improvement, too. 

Three year comparison – Dispute Resolution Process stages 1-3



22

22
17 18

2
7 9

0 0 3

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
0

20

40 Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

                          PRACTICE ALERTS  - THEMES No of times 
raised

CiN/ CP 
Macc     

CiN/ CP 
Crewe

PTCT inc. 
L/ Care

Fostering

No Plan/ plan not updated: review stood down 43 9 7 27

Statutory visits out of timescales or not recorded 20 5 13 2

Required documents not produced or shared with IRO (e.g. CPR, SGO, parenting 
assessment, support plan)

18 7 10 1

Documents not shared and/ or poor consultation with child and/or parent and/ or 
carers and/ or professionals

32 7 13 12

No permanence plan by 2nd review 7 4 3

Drift/ legal issues, e.g. applying for or discharging an order, confirming care 
leaver status

32 4 15 10 3

Deficiencies in care planning (e.g. no care planning mtgs, contact plan, 
contingency plan)

45 15 21 9

Placement issues (e.g. no care/ placement planning mtg, frequent moves, no 
timely confirmation for Staying Put arrangements)

12 4 1 4 3

Poor or no communication and/ or direct work with child 5 3 2

Child’s wishes/ feelings or lived experience not captured; issues with arranging 
advocacy for the child

11 11

Decisions from reviews not implemented – drift 16 2 5 9



23

Safeguarding issues, inc. lack or out of date risk assessment, lack/ quality of 
analysis and decision making

5 3 1 1

Funding/ resource related issues 2 1 1

There were alerts raised due to legal issues like: 

 cases not progressed to court in a timely manner, 
 differences in views as to when private arrangements for child’s placement were made as opposed to the child being accommodated 

under sec.20, 
 issues relating to confirmation of support post final hearing or drift in progressing the SGO and/ or care leaver status for late care 

entrants with a significant level of need.
Some of the alerts in this group were escalated to formal DRP and it is certainly an area requiring specific focus and learning as some of the 
most recent examples indicate some inconsistency between actions taken by the allocated social workers or how these have been perceived 
by service users when it comes to placing children away from home. However, it is positive that reflecting on some of the care proceedings, a 
management decision was already made and applied across both CiN/ CP services to consider progressing to court promptly where likelihood 
of the child’s rehabilitation back home appeared to be diminishing and that a new policy on management of connected persons (Reg.24) 
placements is going to be produced. 

In the last year a decrease in alerts when there has not been a plan for permanence at the second review may be due to a decrease in care 
entrants, also it may be a result of IRO practice resorting to either a series of meetings or completing the meeting and holding a separate 
discussion due to outstanding reports prior to ADM or Final evidence being filed. The focus for 2018/9 is on permanency and the IRO service 
will work with the social work teams by raising alerts whenever there is no permanency plan (or concurrent permanent options outlined) at the 
second review. This may result in an initial increase.

Other areas resulting in IRO escalation included delay in implementing review decisions, leading to drift, and not informing the IRO about 
significant changes to the child’s care plan (including instances of child changing placements or being returned home). 

REFLECTION ON IMPACT OF IRO SPECIALIST AREAS:

Children missing from home/ care 

A Multi-agency Missing Children Focus Group was established and led by the IRO service and achieved the following:



24

 good communication about what impacts and promotes good practice resulting in more consistent oversight and service provision to the 
children who go missing,

 improvement in service provision leading to greater participation and partnership work, with more parents and, on occasion, children 
attending their Trigger Missing meetings to create better plans and prevent reoccurrence of going missing again,

 evaluation of the awareness and use of tools for consultation with children, young people as well as their parents and carers when 
managing risk plans at trigger Level 1 and Level 2 missing from home and care meetings, and use of the dedicated workflow to record 
all missing incidence, actions and reporting.

 update to Pan Cheshire Missing Risk Assessment, the template is now held on the LSCB website, and when used, placed within the 
relevant available records (Forms) on the child’s file, resulting in more accurate assessment.

 One Minute Guide completion by Catch 22 for Pan Cheshire Protocol, 
 identified training needs across EDT (out of hours team) in relation to Missing categories lead to addressing them accordingly,
 identified  and addressed the difficulty in the recording of return interviews and ‘N/A’ box being completed at point of recording, 
 identified and agreed with service managers the need for photographs of any child who goes missing to be regularly uploaded onto 

child’s record,
 altered the process for endorsement of Trigger Level 2 minutes to ensure both the IRO and the team manager sign it off so there is 

good over-sight and shared focus,
 circulated information to IROs to ensure Missing episodes and plans are clearly referenced in minutes of reviews in terms of 

understanding and planning for the risks,
 supported team managers in reminding their teams to update care plans following Trigger meetings to ensure all relevant actions are 

incorporated in children’s care/ placement plans, so risk informs assessment and planning for the child. 

Children with disabilities and transitions to Adult Services

The link IRO in this area met with both Children with Disabilities as well as Adults with Learning Disability teams and managers. Meeting with 
Adults with Learning Disabilities Team meeting enabled evaluation of the overlap in presence of services from Adults and Children’s Leaving 
Care Team as well as IRO service. This supported development of more positive relationship and encouraged Adult Services’ social workers 
attendance at Pathway Plan reviews. The Adult service workers later reported that they had often found such attendances useful and this 
ensures smoother transition for the child.  IRO service was also represented and contributed to the ‘WS3 Preparing for Adulthood and 
Transitions’ work stream which is developing Transition Pathways to Adult Services. There is a range of areas for further development ahead of 
the transitional worker and Adult service but the co-operation of the above three services certainly paved the way forward and needs to be 
maintained. 



25

Care Leavers - Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing   

The lead IRO in this area continued involvement with the working group monitoring processes linked to ‘How am I getting on’ tool that supports 
assessing emotional wellbeing of care leavers. Last year the group started looking to broaden its scope beyond the assessment of need to find 
ways to ensure that the identified needs are met. The specialist IRO attended a ‘Thoughtfulness’ workshop to experience the service offered to 
care leavers and to meet with the service provider and also met with the ‘Pure Insight’ service to discuss the new role they were developing 
with a mental health worker to offer direct counselling services to care leavers as well as to develop mentoring services and a range of ‘self-                                  
care tool kits’ to aid wellbeing. It is recognised that assessment and the quality of Pathway Plans has improved, and that consideration of 
relevant support to care leavers starts early and plays an important part in service provision. Links with accommodation/ care and other service 
providers are established (Ignition panel plays a significant role) and where there were concerns about quality of services and care leavers’ 
experiences, these were promptly shared by the IROs with the Commissioning team and were responded to with relevant action improving the 
experience of Care Leavers. 

Unaccompanied asylum seeking young people.

The IRO service supported the work of the 16+ Designated nurse and Leaving Care service to develop more robust and evidence informed 
practice on behalf of social care, medical and housing professionals when understanding and meeting the needs of this group of young people, 
including former ‘UASC’ when they reach 18 years of age.

The IRO service supported the need for further awareness raising across many professionals and agencies, including GPs, dentists and 
housing officers. There is clear merit in gaining a better understanding of what expected service provision and standards there are across the 
various agencies these young people may come in contact with, including the Faith and third sector organisations, access to advocacy and 
legal support for ARE or ‘age-disputed’ young people whose application for asylum was rejected or their age disputed, use of culturally and 
ethnically appropriate interpreters, relevant ESOL providers or specialist local medical professionals and services like NHS funded therapy for 
young people who were subjected to torture and modern slavery. 

IRO links with Virtual School:

The specialist IRO and Virtual School Head as well as both respective teams have 
collaborated over the last year. The overriding theme has been raising educational 
outcomes for cared for children with a specific focus on emotional health and outcomes 
achieved by cared for children in alternative provisions. Evidence gathered by IROs 
through reviewing children attending one of the local authority’s specialist schools 



26

identified specific concerns about the emotional wellbeing and educational attainment  of the cared for children in this provision. Agencies 
worked together to improve the attainment of children and reviewed the progress so that long term decisions were made in the best interests of 
each child. 

Improving the emotional wellbeing of cared for children in schools was promoted by the IRO service with the Virtual Head who has committed 
to rolling out relevant training for Designated Teachers in Cheshire East Schools over the summer term 2018. There is also a drive to ensure 
schools complete SDQ (Strength and Difficulties Questionnaire) for cared for children with an aim to further triangulate the scores from the 
SDQ for each cared for child with the scores from the same questionnaire completed by their carers and the child/ young person themselves to 
allow for more holistic overview of the emotional health needs and therefore an appropriately individualised response for each young person. 
Further work on this will take place over 2017/8, and future liaison with the designated nurses’ service is needed to take advice on how the 
completed SDQs will be reflected in each child’s review health assessment.

An issue identified by the IROs when reviewing children under 2 years of age was the lack of a consistent approach to assessing the education/ 
developmental needs of this group of children (pre 2 PEP). This was raised with the Virtual School Head. It was agreed more consistent 
practice in this area would be discussed by the Virtual School Head with the senior manager (Head of Service) for cared for children so that an 
agreed process would be communicated to all social workers. 

Another significant concern identified by IROs was linked to EHCPs (Education, Health and Care Plans) for cared for children placed out of 
borough. To enable a quicker response to each cared for child’s educational needs, the Virtual Head secured agreement with the SEN team 
that they would retain responsibility for EHCPs  where children were in an out of area residential provision. The Virtual School Head will also be 
able to urgently provide resources for bespoke education packages where required. A greater involvement of the Virtual School in all SEN 
aspects relevant for the cared for children and the inclusion of IRO oversight of EHCPs within statutory cared for reviews and alignment of the 
reviews remains an area for continued progress.

Apprenticeships – retention rates for young people who have taken on apprenticeships within Cheshire East Council was queried with the 
Virtual School Head in the context of the outcomes for these young people at the end of the apprenticeship period. This is an area for continued 
focus that will enable a better understanding of what makes our young people successful and what hinders this process in relation to securing 
employment post apprenticeship period.

Liaison with CAFCASS and North West IRO Managers regional group:

Regular liaison meetings took place with both the CAFCASS service manager and IRO manager in attendance. The IRO service was regularly 
represented and made contributions to the meetings of Liverpool Family Courts, CAFCASS for Merseyside and Cheshire and IRO services 



27

within this area as well as bi annual meetings with Judge de Haas and IRO services. The IRO manager regularly attended bimonthly meetings 
of the North West IRO managers group and led on collation of baseline database regarding IRO statutory activity to enable regional 
comparison and support individual annual IRO report production by each local authority IRO manager.

Other specialist areas and liaison with services

Specialist areas for liaison to develop better joint working and communication involved fostering service (see below section), new adoption 
agency (Adoption Counts), SGO and designated nurses team. A new specialism includes an IRO acting as a practice lead for implementation 
of the Signs of Safety practice model.

IRO FEEDBACK ON QUALITY OF SERVICES INVOLVED IN CHILDREN’S PERMANENCE PLANNING AND PLACEMENTS

WHAT’S WORKED WELL? 

 co-operation was good and feedback from IROs for the Fostering reviewing officer prior to carers’ annual reviews was regular,

 improved communication regarding learning and sharing of concerns for children whose placements broke down was influenced by the 
IROs who chaired placement disruption meetings working with the Fostering reviewing officer who chairs the carers’ reviews – helping 
to align the process, i.e. share the learning points from disruptions before the carers’ reviews (this will continue to be a work in 
progress),

 appointment of a dedicated senior manager to oversee issues pertinent to children’s permanence and offer consultation and support to 
the operational teams/ team managers,

 greater clarity about the organisation and processes within the regional adoption agency (Adoption Counts) and its links with internal 
teams,

 undertaking of a review of therapeutic provision to address children’s emotional and mental health needs and progression towards 
offering outreach type of work alongside additional out of hours designated support to foster carers,

 the main learning points from disruption meetings (for long-term placements which broke down after 12 months or more from the child 
entering the placement) were analysed and shared with relevant services, especially the Placements and Fostering team to inform their 
matching and resource planning as well as training and support to the carers, 



28

 identifying appropriate provider of accommodation and support to care leavers was enabled by regular Ignition panel meetings.

 the percentage of children cared for with 3 or more placements during the year as at 31st March 2018, is 10.7% (51 children). This is an 
improvement on the previous year (13.6%) and in line with regional statistical neighbours. We recognise there is still more we can do to 
ensure placement stability and learn from breakdowns, but this years figures show a positive move in the right direction  

WHAT’S NOT WORKING WELL/ WHAT WE ARE WORRIED ABOUT?

 Increase in demand and lack of in house or agency foster placements meant that children were placed in residential agency 
placements, where this was not the preferred choice for them. The new residential admissions receive particular scrutiny and challenge, 
as do the residential placements where issues about their suitability/ sustainability have already been raised or are a reason for 
concern.

 although significantly improved, greater consistency in the clear recording and monitoring of children in unregulated placements would 
continue this trend, e.g. when a Reg.24 carer is not approved at fostering panel or a young person does not wish to live with a relative/ 
parent before an assessment and formal arrangement has been made,

 records from placement stability meetings had varied in their content and quality, initially due to there being no established format, 
however this changed towards the end of the year with two specific managers delegated to chair all of these meetings and this has 
improved. This will help us learn from disruptions and improve placement stability even further

 consistent practice for chairing of stability meetings to support ‘fragile’/ at risk of breakdown placements has developed during the year, 
it would be important to consider how to further embed this practice across the teams and empower the front line managers to 
confidently take increasing levels of control for robust monitoring and support to social workers where management to prevent 
placement breakdown is an issue, joint performance meeting will also provide a shared focus.

 clarity about support where Adoption Fund can be accessed/ is being utilised, inc. post adoption support,

 gradual decrease in number of Staying Put arrangements for 18+ care leavers - we need to better understand this and ensure all 
children are appropriately offered the opportunity where this meets their needs and is what they want.

 some improvement in attendance of supervising social workers at reviews or in the consultation prior to reviews has been seen, this 
would still be a target area to ensure that children’s care plans are progressing well with the carers are supported in line with the 
changing needs of the children, particularly when proceedings are ongoing.



29

WHAT NEEDS TO CHANGE?

 consistent consultation before the matching of a new child needs to include carers, their supervising social worker and social workers 
for each respective child already in the placement,

 assessment and long term matching of children with foster carers needs to include consideration of the carers’ willingness to offer 
Staying Put arrangements, 

 there needs to be dedicated workspace/ workflow within the child’s record to offer a consistent manner for recording (and monitoring/ 
auditing) of placement instability/ disruption issues, inc. minutes from disruption meetings (chaired by IROs),

 learning from unplanned disruptions before the child has been 12 months in the placement needs to be enabled/captured and analysed,

 consultation document for supervising social workers before a child’s review needs to be developed. 

 there have been some good examples of close working between IROs and the fostering service, particularly in relation to the co-
ordinated working to support children moving on, family finding and exchanging information when a new social worker is allocated and 
supporting placements at fragile times. The link IRO and fostering managers will continue to develop ways of communicating concerns 
about fostering practice and bringing about change and to improve knowledge of each team’s role by team meeting attendance and joint 
workshop, 

PRIORITIES FOR 2018/19:

What do we want 
to achieve?  

How will we get there? When will we know we have succeeded? Impact on the child

Improved 
engagement of 
children and 

 we will maintain liaison with ‘My 
Voice’ and promote engagement 
through effective invite and 
consultation process and regular 

 six monthly feedback evidences 
improved service

 Investors in Children award is renewed 
and STAR AWARD event is co-

 Children have better relationships 
with their IROs and understand 
well how to communicate their 
views and how IROs can support 
them 



30

young people, 
their parents, 
carers and 
significant others

feedback 

 we will continue to improve the  
consultation process and scrutinise 
quality of advocacy

 we will monitor partnership 
working with service users to 
develop plans

prepared

 Voice of UASCs and CwD is clear, 
understood and impacts on service 
development

 Increase in children and young people 
who attend and lead their reviews

 Children and parents trust that 
independent review process 
regularly consults and asks them 
about quality of services and their 
voices improve the service

 Children/ YP trust they are heard 
when developing plans 

Co-operation with 
frontline services 
to improve 
stability in 
placements and 
achieving 
permanence at 
the earliest point

 we will contribute to placement 
stability by knowing the child and 
carer through regular visits and 
consultation, oversight and timely 
reviews 

 IRO’s will ensure that the child is 
understood within their family and 
community context and that 
important links for the child are 
maintained

 we will retain focus on children’s 
educational attainment and 
emotional wellbeing through EHCP/ 
PEP scrutiny and triangulation of 
SDQ scores and use of ‘How am I 
getting on’ tool 

 our feedback and escalations will 
support foster carers’ training and 

 All children will have permanency 
plans by the second review

 joint challenge sessions improve 
quality of care planning through IRO 
visits. timely reviews and learning 
from IRO alerts 

 the child’s review and plan reflects 
how services are sustaining 
meaningful links with their family and 
community

 IRO/ TM liaison meetings are regular

 Repeat joint audits on placement 
disruptions and care planning/ review 
will evidence where there is good 
practice and areas for continued 
improvement

 The process of assessing capacity 
within the family and outside of 
it, if need be, when placing a child 
has been recognised early to 
decrease risk of breakdowns and 
children moving

 Plans for children clearly set out 
their family and community links 
and ensures they are sustained so 
they remain meaningful for the 
child

 Children’s anxiety about their 
future is responded to and their 
views play crucial role when 
formulating plans and reviewing 
them to give children answers 
about their future lives

 Children understand that their 
views matter whether during care 



31

improvement in quality and 
stability of placements and support 
to carers

 we will support development of 
specific joint working approach to 
supporting and scrutinising Care 
orders at home whilst preventing 
drift

 Placement breakdowns are reduced 
and prevented and Virtual school’s 
role is well evidenced

 IROs, Fostering service and Fostering 
Reviewing Officer developed and 
embedded a pattern of consistent  
feedback post child’s reviews and prior 
to carers’ annual reviews

planning, review, stability 
meeting or disruption meeting 
and that their experiences are 
taken seriously to improve their 
and other children’s experiences

Successfully 
implemented SoS 
approach leading 
to the 
development of 
own review model

 we will consistently encourage and 
scrutinise use of support networks 
in formulating care plans during 
care proceedings and afterwards

 we will use appreciative enquiry 
and group supervision for learning 
and support and empower children 
and young people to co/chair their 
meet

 we will develop tools and methods 
which are SoS compliant and 
enable undertaking cared for and 
Pathway Plans reviews 

 kinship placements are explored early 
when needed to offer permanence 
and arrangements tested out and 
supported where they are in the 
child’s interest

 updated consultation and evaluation 
tool, co-produced with children and 
young people and SoS compliant, 
replaced old tools and are in use by 
December 2018

 IROs are proficient in using SoS 
approach and have conducted peer 
observations to help them develop 
SoS review model by December 2018 

 Children will benefit from more 
appropriate tools which are going 
to be used consistently by social 
workers during visits or meetings 
as well as IROs during 
consultations and reviews

 Children and their parents  will 
feel more involved and thus 
empowered to share their views 
about the strengths as well as 
risks to help co-produce the 
eventual plans



32

 children’s voices will remain a central priority for IROs and all other professionals involved, with advocates being used to actively 
support children when making their decisions about issues significant for them, especially when these relate to contact arrangements or 
placements,

 wider use of advocacy should be considered for meetings such as care planning meetings, Stability or Disruption meetings, 

 ensuring that focus on partnership working with the parents in decision making about their children is maintained and further developed 
though implementation of the Signs of Safety model,

 wider services, including the legal department, need to work together to ensure the date for a review gives sufficient time for the IRO to 
familiarise themselves with all final evidence prior to final hearing is agreed at early stages of proceedings,

 further work will happen on co-ordinating EHCP review within PEP process and the statutory cared for review process to evidence 
robust monitoring,

 further joint work by the IRO team will contribute to cross departmental work on optimising arrangements for the young people with 
disabilities and high level vulnerabilities who require transitional arrangements and involvement from Adult services,

 recommendations made by the IRO service to address the needs of 16-17 year olds presenting as homeless needs implementing,

 achieve consistent approach to assessing and addressing educational/ developmental needs of children under 2 years of age (replacing 
the pre 2 PEP),

 further work to build on specialist knowledge and skills in recognising the needs and supporting UASC (unaccompanied asylum seeking 
children), as initiated by the Designated 16+ nurse and Leaving Care service, would be very beneficial, particularly in relation to 
supporting the emotional and identity needs of this group of young people; further work on linking the interpreter with the young person’s 
ethnic and religious background, established links with medical professionals with specialist knowledge, established pattern of 
accessing NHS led therapeutic support for the young people who were tortured or forced into labour/ modern slavery, 

 a reduction in stood down reviews – better use of weekly email and active role of team managers in communicating with IROs when 
there are legitimate issues delaying care planning and production of updated care plan in readiness for reviews,



33





OFFICIAL
1

Corporate Parenting Committee Report

Date of Meeting:  18 September 2018

Report Title: Corporate Parenting Performance Scorecard – Qtr 4, 2017-18

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Jos Saunders, Portfolio Holder for Children and Families

Senior Officer: Nigel Moorhouse, Director of Children’s Social Care 

1. Report Summary

1.1.This report and the attached performance scorecard provide an overview of 
performance across corporate parenting services for quarter 4 of 2017-18. 

2. Recommendation/s

2.1. Committtee is recommended to:

a. Note the contents of the report and scorecard; and

b. Scrutinise areas where expected levels of performance are not being met.

3. Reasons for Recommendation/s

3.1.One of the key areas of focus for the Corporate Parenting Committee is to 
highlight areas of poor performance and to scrutinise the effectiveness of 
plans in place to improve services. The Committee has an important role to 
play in the performance management systems of the local authority.  The 
corporate parenting performance scorecard provides essential data, along 
with qualitative information, to measure the effectiveness of services that are 
supporting cared for children and care leavers.  This report and scorecard is 
provided to Committee on a quarterly basis to enable it to maintain an 
overview of performance across the Service.

4. Other Options Considered

4.1.Committee may want to consider the performance of the Service more or less 
frequently.



OFFICIAL
2

5. Background

5.1. This quarterly report provides the Committee with an overview of 
performance across corporate parenting services. This report and 
scorecard relates to quarter 4 of 2017-18 (1st January – 31st March 2018).  

5.2. The performance scorecard details the following:

 Measure – details of each performance measure  
 Polarity – whether it is good to have the measure high or low
 Statistical neighbour average – gives a comparator against local 

authorities with similar characteristics to Cheshire East. Cheshire East’s 
statistical neighbours in rank order are:

 Cheshire West and Chester
 Warwickshire
 Central Bedfordshire
 Warrington
 Hampshire
 North Yorkshire
 East Riding of Yorkshire
 Solihull
 North Somerset
 West Berkshire

 National average – gives a national comparator figure
 Target – this is either a national target, eg, adoption timeliness, or a local 

one set by the service to provide a ‘good/outstanding’ service
 Year end 2016-17 – enables Members to compare existing performance 

to that in the previous year
 Quarterly performance – enables Members to compare performance 

from quarter to quarter
 RAG – this is a rating of red, amber, green based on current 

performance against the expected level of performance
 Direction of travel – this provides the direction of travel this quarter and 

whether this is positively or negatively in an upward/downward trajectory  
or static 

 Comments – this provides a general commentary on the information 
presented

 C&YP Plan Priority – links the measure to the relevant priority within the 
Children and Young People’s Plan

 Corporate Priority – links the measure to the relevant priority within the 
Council’s Corporate Plan

6. Performance Overview

6.1. The performance scorecard at Appendix 1 includes 43 separate measures 
covering all areas of the service. Some of these measures are non-
performance related, eg those that relate to population cohorts.  In total, 34 



OFFICIAL
3

of these measures relate to performance and have been RAG rated.  A 
breakdown summary is set out follows (it is not possible to compare to the 
previous quarter due to the change in measures:

Performance 
Measures

Red Amber Green n/a Total

This quarter 2 12 20 9 43

7. Red RAG rated performance

7.1. There continues to be some areas of performance that are RAG rated as 
red.  Activity is underway in all these areas to address under-performance.

7.2. The percentage of children ceased to be looked after due to adoption. The 
year to date figure at 10% in quarter 4 is below our target of 20%. There 
are, however, a high number on a plan for adoption, including some placed 
with adopters.  Becoming a Regional Adoption Agency (RAA) has impacted 
on our adoption performance due to the complexity of the move, alongside 
an increasing number of children requiring adoption and a decrease in 
available adopters. However, we are optimistic about the longer term 
outcomes that these arrangements will bring. 

7.3. We had a primary exclusion in quarter 4. This relates to a child who had 
been excluded from school in Lancashire. A challenge was made to this 
decision, but it was not overturned despite a letter from our Director of 
Children's Services to the Chair of Governors for the school.  The appeal 
was not successful. This child is now accessing education in a different 
provision however it is to be recognised that the journey for this child was a 
challenging one and one in which the Local Authority gave rigorous 
challenge to another local authority about their decision to permanently 
exclude.

8. Performance Direction of Travel

8.1. Whilst it is important to look at the current performance around particular 
measures, it is equally important to look at the direction of travel and to 
RAG rate this in relation to performance, ie, whether this is improving 
(green), staying broadly the same (amber) or getting worse (red).  A 
summary of the direction of travel of performance across the service is 
detailed overleaf:



OFFICIAL
4

Direction of Travel Red Amber Green n/a Total

This quarter 2 15 18 8 43

9. Implications of the Recommendations

9.1. Legal Implications

9.1.1. There are a no direct legal implications.

9.2. Finance Implications

9.2.1. Although there are no direct financial implications related to this report, 
performance measures may be used as an indicator of where more or 
less funding is needed at a service level.

9.3. Equality Implications

9.3.1. Members may want to use the performance scorecard to ensure that 
services are targeted at more vulnerable children and young people.

9.4. Human Resources Implications

9.4.1. None.

9.5. Risk Management Implications

9.5.1. There are risks associated with some performance measures, eg 
increases in demand and timeliness of services.

9.6. Rural Communities Implications

9.6.1. There are no direct implications for rural communities.

9.7. Implications for Children & Young People 

9.7.1. This performance scorecard sets out a range of measures that impact 
on services for children and young people and their families.

9.8. Public Health Implications

9.8.1. There are no direct implications for public health.

10.Ward Members Affected

10.1. The performance measures relate to all ward areas.  



OFFICIAL
5

11.Consultation & Engagement

11.1. Not applicable. 

12.Access to Information

12.1. The scorecard is attached is attached at Appendix 1.  

13.Contact Information

13.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Kerry Birtles

Job Title: Head of Cared for Children and Care Leavers

Email: gill.betton@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

mailto:gill.betton@cheshireeast.gov.uk




Ref Measure Polarity Stat Neigh Av National Av Target Yr. end 16-17
Qu 1         17-

18

Qu 2         17-

18
Q3 17-18 Q4   17-18 RAG

Quarterly dir of 

travel
Comments 

C&YP Plan Priority Corporate 

Priority 

G1 Number of cared for children 380-430 422 438 466 470 477 ↑

The overall population of cared for children has increased, however at a significantly slower pace than that observed in quarter 2. The increase was due to a high 

number of unaccompanied asylum seekers supported (9 in quarter 3). In context we only accommodated 11 in the whole of 2016/17. The service are focused on 

ensuring that children that require safeguarding via care have that option, but also that support is available for those children who require intense support to 

remain at home, or with family members. Cheshire East are not unique in the region in experiencing increased demand, however the operational strategy to 

managing this is evidenced in the plateauing out of overall numbers.   At third quarter review the children’s social care service was predicting an overspend of 

£3.4m and this formed part of the report to February 2018 Cabinet. The key driver for this pressure is the rise in the number and costs of children in care which 

have  increased at a greater rate than the budget. In December 2017 the number in care stood at 470 compared to 420 in December 2016 and 394 in 

December 2015.  That is a 20% increase over two years.  The increase in numbers has been recognised in the budget process with +£2.1m being included in 

2017/18 and +£3m in 2018/19 to provide additional funding.  The positive news is that the number of children in care reached 466 in August 2017 and has stayed 

at broadly that level since then.  Despite the increase in cared for children, we continue to be towards the lower end of our statistical neighbour group and 

nationally for rate of cared for children (per 10,000), in particular lower than Cheshire West and Chester and Warrington Councils.  A number of initiatives are 

being taken forward to reduce the pressures such as commissioning residential children’s homes, expanding Project Crewe, establishing Project Macclesfield, 

joining a regional adoption agency, and starting work on a shared fostering service. 

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

G2 Rate per 10,000 cared for children 56 60 50.7-57.3 56 58 61.8 62.3 62.7 ↑ As above

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

G3 Number of care leavers 199 202 198 196 215 ↑ This represents all eligible, relevant and former relevant care leavers who are supported with access to a Personal Advisor (PA) to offer help and guidance as 

they move to independence together with financial support as appropriate to individual needs.

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

P1.1 Number of eligible children and young people accessing advocacy services High is Good 127 27 98 66 48

We had 48 advocacy cases open this quarter.  Of these, 38 were issued based cases, 25 in care, 7 Care Leavers, 3 Disability, 3 child protection.  The issues 

were 16 placement issues, 7 representations at meetings, 4 complaints, 4 contact, 2 legal , 2 child protection, 1 Transition, 1 Financial, 1 Educational issues. The 

other 10 cases were open to children who were on a child protection plan. The Advocacy Team have been very active attending team meetings to raise 

awareness and encourage Social Workers and Family Support Workers to discuss Advocacy with children and young people and their families. 

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

P1.2 % cared for children reviews in timescales High is Good 98% 95% 96% 99% 96% ↓
There was a slight dip in Q4 in the percentage of cared for children reviews in timescales.  The year end position shows  that, whilst we did not achieve our 

internal target, we improved on last year despite an increase in cared for children and care leavers being supported. There will always be occasions where, due 

to unforeseen circumstances, a review cannot be held when planned. Ongoing scrutiny and joint performance challenge sessions between the Cared for Service 

and the Independent Reviewing Service will ensure that where this occurs, there is evidence that the reasons are understood and the young person is receiving 

the right support.

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 6

P1.3 % of children and young people chairing their own reviews High is Good 2.75% 0.0%

Whilst the percentage of children and young people chairing/co chairing is very low, the number of individuals attending and participating in their reviews is 

monitored closely. In 2017-18 on average 55% of individuals attended their reviews with active participation through briefing advocates/ representatives/ meeting 

with workers and chairs prior to review ranged from 95% - 100% in any given month. 

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 7

P2.1
Number of cared for children in internal foster care (including friends and family 

placements)
High is Good 215 209 210 207 199 210 ↑

The number of available Cheshire East fostering households does not meet the current demand for placements. The Cheshire East fostering collaboration with 3 

neighbouring authorities goes live in April 2018, with a targeted recruitment strategy aimed at increasing in-house provision. The reasons for a reduction in in-

house placements is complex and there are often a range of reasons why a household can either not accommodate the number of individuals it is registered for 

or that the needs of individuals are not compatible with the placements available. 

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

P2.2 Number of cared for children in external foster care Low is Good 85 95 102 118 114 114 →
The Cheshire East fostering collaboration with 3 neighbouring authorities goes live in April 2018 with a targeted recruitment strategy and shared agreement 

regarding use of internal vacancies across the collaboration. The aim of the collaboration is to significantly increase the recruitment and retention of in house 

foster carers so more of our children live with our foster carers and costs are reduced. Whilst the number of children placed in external placements is higher than 

we would like, 39% of the placements are long fostering arrangements so children have achieved permanence and a good outcome.   

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

P2.3
% cared for children placed over 20 miles from home address (Cheshire East and 

out of borough)
Low is Good 22% 24% 24% 23% 24% ↑

Whilst this figure represents 24% of the individuals in care (excluding UASC), 13 of these children are placed with family/friends, 12 in adoption placements and 

an additional 19 are in long term foster placements. In addition, a further 32 are in specialist school/ home/ Baby and Mother provision and there is ongoing work 

with commissioning to increase the level of locally available specialist provision and residential homes.

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

P2.4 % of children and young people in residential care Low is Good 10% 9% 11% 9% 9% 10% ↑
Whilst this is a low percentage, there has been an increase in our cared for population residing in residential care and  an increase of younger children living in 

residential care. This reflects the reduction in foster carer capacity locally and the increase in complexity of need.   We are addressing this through our fostering 

collaboration.

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

P2.5 Number of Cheshire East foster carers High is Good 165 150 152 159 163 158 ↓ Work continues to increase the number of Cheshire East Foster Carers and it is hoped that numbers will continue to increase once the collaborative 

arrangements are in place post April 2018.

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

P2.6
Long term placement stability - % cared for children in care for 2.5 years who have 

been in the same placement for 2 years (under 16 years old)
High is Good 68% 75% 69%

Of the 161 children currently under 16 who  have been in care for over 2.5 years at the end of September 2017, there were 105 who had been in the same 

placements] for 2 years. This gives an indicative figure of 65%.  However this should be taken with an element of caution as it will not reflect the final outturn.

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

P2.7
Number of cared for children that went missing 5 times or more (quarterly figure is 5 

or more times in any month in that quarter)
Low is Good 5 5 13 7 9 supressed

In total, 27 cared for children went missing more than 5 times in the reporting year 2017-18. This includes CE children who are placed in CE and those placed in 

other local authorities. Quarter 4 has seen a considerable reduction in the number of children going missing from placement more than 5 times. This reflects 

better matching and planning to ensure that children's wishes and feelings are understood and they are more settled, especially as one of the key drivers for 

going missing is to see family and friends. This is monitored closely on a monthly basis and scrutinised for emerging patterns together with ensuring plans are 

revised to reflect needs and the reasons for missing episodes fully understood and addressed.

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

P2.8
% of children and young people placed with providers with  good/outstanding Ofsted 

judgements
High is Good 90% 91% 90% 87% 91% ↑ Positively we have seen an increase in providers moving from good to outstanding.  We continue to strive to place children and young people in only good or 

outstanding homes and families.

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

P2.9
% of children ceased to be looked after due to granting of special guardianship order 

(SGO) - year to date figure
High is Good 12% 17% 20% 17% 23% 26.0% ↑

A cumulative figure of 38 out of 149 children in 2017-18 ceased to be cared for due to granting of SGO. A designated Special Guardianship Support Team 

offers support to these children up until the child reaches 18 if required. There are also financial implications for the Local Authority in the increase in Special 

Guardianship Orders.

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

P2.10 % of children ceased to be looked after due to adoption - year to date figure High is Good 20% 18% 18% 16% 10.0% 10.0% →
A cumulative figure of 15 out of 149 children in 2017-18 ceased to be cared for as they achieved permanence via adoption. There are however a further 41 

cared for children where the plan is for adoption, this includes 13 already placed with prospective adoptive carers, 8 awaiting Placement Orders, 4 linked but not 

matched, 13 not matched, 2 with adoption disruption pre-order and 1 matched but not placed with adoptive family. Cheshire East arrangements within the new 

Regional Adoption Agency are developing with a performance framework which robustly scrutinises drift and delay for children who are placed within their 

prospective adoptive family.

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

P2.11 Number of children adopted in period (YTD) High is Good 30 annually 26 8 13 13 15 ↑
A cumulative figure of 15 out of 149 children in 2017-18 ceased to be cared for as they achieved permanence via adoption. There are however a further 41 

cared for children where the plan is for adoption, this includes 13 already placed with prospective adoptive carers, 8 awaiting Placement Orders,4 linked but not 

matched, 13 not matched, 2 with adoption disruption pre order and 1 matched but not placed with adoptive family. Cheshire East arrangements within the new 

Regional Adoption Agency are developing with a performance framework which robustly scrutinises drift and delay for children who are placed within their 

prospective adoptive family.

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

P2.12
% children who wait less than 14 months between entering care and moving in with 

adoptive family (This has changed to 14 months from 16 months)
High is Good 58% 84% 74% 69% 67% 71% ↑

Please note that this indicator has reduced to being monitored at 14 months rather than 16 months in previous scorecards. Despite a small reduction in the 

performance by the end of quarter 3, it still remains ahead of the target. The target is based on the England average that was provided by DfE on the adoption 

scorecards.

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

P2.13
Average number of days between entering care and moving in with adoptive family 

(A1 national indicator)
Low is Good 426 541 383 391 391 380 ↓ Cheshire East performance has improved steadily year on year since this became monitored through the Adoption data set, from an initial position of over 700 

days down to 391 in the latest quarter.

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

P2.14
Average number of days between placement order and match with adoptive family  

(A2 national indicator)
Low is Good 121 66 62 88 88 81 ↓ We continue to out-perform the England average of 226 days and the national target of 121 days.

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

P2.15
Average number of days between entering care and moving in with adoptive family/ 

foster carer who becomes adoptive family
Low is Good 426 284 373 391 377 368 ↓ Cheshire East performance has improved steadily year on year since this became monitored through the Adoption data set, from an initial position of over 700 

days down to 391 in the latest quarter.

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

CORPORATE PARENTING SCORECARD

General

Keep Me Healthy

Provide Me With a Good Safe Home

Involve Me

This data will be presented annually.  See comments for quarterly updates 

OFFICIAL



P3.1 % of initial health assessments requested within 48 hours of coming into care High is Good 70% 64% 78% 41% 84% 86% ↑
During Quarter 4 there has been continued improvement with 24 of the 28 individuals who entered care having their initial health assessment requested within 48 

hours. This demonstrates the success of the new process and will ensure that individuals are having their needs identified at an early stage. Careful monitoring of 

this performance indicator will continue to ensure that all children entering care are supported to have their health care needs met in a timely way.

4 Being Healthy and Making 

Positive Choices 

Outcome 5

P3.2 % of initial health assessments completed by paediatricians within 20 working days High is Good 100% 58% 41% 32% 64% 78% ↑
There has been a considerable improvement in Q4, with 21 of the 27 health assessments requested being completed within 20 days. One health assessment 

that was requested and not completed was due to the child leaving care within that 20 day period. Whilst this is not yet on target, it demonstrates the continued 

success of the new process and a willingness for partnership working to support our most vulnerable individuals. A review of the process by senior officers in 

health and social care has enabled blockages in the system to be unblocked and close monitoring of this performance indicator will continue.

4 Being Healthy and Making 

Positive Choices 

Outcome 5

P3.3 Number of pregnant care leavers (eligible, relevant and former relevant) 16+ Low is Good 7 8 7 6 8 ↑ Two of our female unaccompanied asylum seeking children have become pregnant and this is the reason for the increase.

4 Being Healthy and Making 

Positive Choices 

Outcome 5

P3.4 % of young people with a SDQ score of 20 or above Low is Good 23% 22% 36% 24% ↓
The emotional well-being of our cared for children is assessed via the completion of the SDQ. It is encouraging that the scores have returned to their more 

general level, although clearly there are still a significant number of children whose wellbeing is of concern. The new seconded CAMHS worker has now started 

and will be addressing these problems alongside her colleagues in Health and the social work teams.

4 Being Healthy and Making 

Positive Choices 

Outcome 5

P4.1 % of cared for children accessing 2-4 yr old provision (quarterly) High is Good 90% 95% 89% 85% 84% 97% ↑
It is very positive that 30 out of the 31 of eligible children are attending early years settings. 1 child is placed with adopters. 5 Best Skills & Quals Outcome 3

P4.2 Percentage of completed PEPs (Termly) High is Good 90% 83% 93% (July fig) 92% 94% ↑ 25 PEPs not returned in the last term.  All of these have now been chased and will be loaded. This includes children new into care at the end of March 2018. - 

PEPs being held on entry but still in process. This is still an improvement from last term and a 13% increase from Spring term 2017.

5 Best Skills & Quals Outcome 3

P4.3
% attendance at primary school of children in care  (quarterly figure is all cared for 

children at month end  rather than those in care for 12mths which are published figs)
High is Good 95.50% 96.10% 95% 96% 96% 97% 97% 96% ↓ There has been a small drop last term due to illness in January/February. 97 of the 114 relevant children and young people have attendance above 95%. This 

remains above target.

5 Best Skills & Quals Outcome 3

P4.4
% attendance at secondary school of children in care  (quarterly figure is all cared for 

children at month end  rather than those in care for 12mths which are published figs)
High is Good 95% 92% 92% 94% 93% 94% ↑

Last term there was a slight increase in secondary school attendance. 103 young people had attendance above 95%. 5 Best Skills & Quals

P4.5

% primary school age persistent absence of children in care (quarterly figure is all 

cared for at month end  rather than those in care for 12mths which are published 

figs)

Low is Good 10% 12% 9% 8% 6% 5% ↓
6 out of 114 pupils had persistent absence in Q4. 3 had attendance below 90% in March 2018. Each case is reviewed, which shows that 2 were due to time 

waiting for a new school , 1 due to illness, 1 due to absence earlier in the year. Where attendance is a current problem, additional targets are included in their 

action plan.  For pupils in Cheshire East, our Education Welfare Service is involved. 

5 Best Skills & Quals Outcome 3

P4.6

% secondary school age persistent absence of children in care (quarterly figure is all 

cared for at month end  rather than those in care for 12mths which are published 

figs)

Low is Good 10% 17% 21% 11% 13% 11% ↓
19 out of 144 pupils had persistent absence below 90% in Q4. 9 have shown improvements since January. 4 had attendance over 90% in March, 2 had 100%. 1 

of these is a current school refuser and a multi team meeting has been called. 2 pupils had 2 placement and school moves and this time without schools has 

impacted. All pupils are being supported.

5 Best Skills & Quals

P4.7 Number of Permanent  Exclusions 1/2 termly - Primary Low is Good 0 0 0 0 1 ↑
This relates to a child who has been excluded from school in Lancashire. A challenge was made to this decision, but it was not overturned despite a letter from 

our Director of Children's Services to the Chair of Governors for the school.  The Virtual School now working with Legal to request an appeal hearing. This child 

is now in assessment place before re-integrating into a new school.

5 Best Skills & Quals Outcome 3

P4.8 Number of Permanent  Exclusions 1/2 termly - Secondary Low is Good 0 0 0 0 0 →
The Virtual School works with schools where permanent exclusion may arise and helps to develop support plans and alternative education where necessary. The 

number of such cases has decreased as preventative support plans are put in place for children with repeat exclusions and schools are becoming better able to 

support.

5 Best Skills & Quals

P4.9 % of cared for children in good or outstanding schools High is Good 85% 82% 83% 77% 81% 80% ↓
There are currently 2 children in inadequate schools - both on these were already on roll when the school's Ofsted rating was downgraded. There is 1 young 

person in Year 11 so completing exams,  1 is in Year 5 and a risk assessment has been done to monitor support and progress.  Some schools ratings based on 

last recorded inspection before conversion may be several years ago. Schools which have converted no longer have reports available and so legacy reports 

have been used showing 81% of children in good or better schools.  Newly named or formed academies  are listed as unknown; as there is no Ofsted rating 

linked to their name. There are 16 children in schools with no listing.

5 Best Skills & Quals Outcome 3

P4.12 % 16-18 year olds in Care that are NEET (monthly ) Low is Good 20% 6% 6% 7% ↑
One additional young person is now NEET, so there are 4 in total. These young people will be given intense support to find new arrangements, including the 

option for in-house programmes of tutor work or Cygnet (supported work experience).

5 Best Skills & Quals Outcome 3

P4.13 % 16-18 year old Care leavers that are NEET Low is Good 40% 23% 9% 12% ↑
The number of 16-18 year old Care leavers that are NEET has increased from 2 to 3 out of a cohort of 25 young people. These young people have been offered 

intense support by the Virtual School, Social Care and Youth Support and will be offered alternatives. This figure remains well below target. A NEET panel has 

been set up to look at individual cases of young people who are long term NEET and not engaging and develop multi-agency plans.

P4.14 % 19 - 21 year Care leavers NEET Low is Good 45% 33% 24% 26% ↑
Corporate Parenting Committee and the Care Leavers Service are in the process of strengthening the offer to care leavers to for education, employment and 

training (EET). Personal Assistants require the council to offer multiple opportunities for care leavers so that every opportunity is provided to secure these 

options. The Care Leavers Team continue to have a designated role in promoting EET, which has been part of the success in the improving picture.

5 Best Skills & Quals

P5.1 % of care leavers accessing Higher Education (University) High is Good 10% 10% 12% 16% 10%
In this last quarter we have had 3 young people drop out of their course due to emotional health difficulties. We have also seen an increase in the number of care 

leavers (increased UASC’s) which mean our percentage of care leavers in university has dropped significantly.

4 Being Healthy and Making 

Positive Choices 

Outcome 1

P5.2 Number of Cheshire East care leavers in apprenticeships (18+) High is Good 9 4 6 6 7

One young person has secured an apprenticeship with the NHS. We have two available ring fenced apprenticeships within the Youth Support Service, however 

we are struggling to find the right care-leaver to fill these roles. Ringway Jacobs plan an open day for care leavers to attend in June 2018. They will be able to 

offer up to 10 apprenticeships. 

4 Being Healthy and Making 

Positive Choices 

Outcome 1

P5.3 The number of young people with a CSE plan - All Individuals 10 6 7 7 5

The number on a formal CSE plan has reduced and this remains an area of focus for senior managers as it is an area that requires vigilance. The figure also 

does not reflect those children and young people where there are risks of CSE as a result of adolescent neglect - these children are on child protection plans 

under the category of neglect and the risks of CSE managed within that plan.

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

P5.4 Number of individual offences committed by cared for children Low is Good 18 7 1 8 ↑
This figure shows the total number of offences from those listed in measure P5.6 below.  Please note offences are only loaded once a young person receives a 

substantive statutory outcome and not when they are going through the Divert process.  The Q4 numbers are more in line with previous quarters, following a 

reduction in Q3.

4 Being Healthy and Making 

Positive Choices 

Outcome 1

P5.5 % of care leavers in suitable accommodation High is Good 96% 94% 96% 98% 98% 98% ↑ There are 3 individuals considered to be in unsuitable accommodation - 2 where residence is unknown as the individual has refused to disclose and 1 where the 

individual was reported as of no fixed abode.  Work continues to maintain contact with these young people.

2 Feel & Be Safe Outcome 5

P5.6 Number of cared for children offending Low is Good 4 4 1 6 ↑
This figure relates to all young people starting on Youth Justice Service Statutory or Divert Intervention during the quarter where they are flagged as a child in 

care on Childview.  Please note that some young people may be active on both Divert and Statutory Interventions at the same time, but only counted once. The 

Q4 numbers are more in line with previous quarters, following a reduction in Q3.

4 Being Healthy and Making 

Positive Choices 

Outcome 1

Support me to move into adult life

Help Me Achieve

OFFICIAL



OFFICIAL
1

Corporate Parenting Committee 

Date of Meeting:  18 September 2018

Report Title: Corporate Parenting Update

Portfolio Holder: Jos Saunders Portfolio Holder for Children and Families

Senior Officer: Kerry Birtles, Head of Cared for Children & Care Leavers

1. Report Summary

1.1. This report provides an update to the Corporate Parenting Committee on 
national and local developments in relation to cared for children and young 
people and care leavers.

2. Recommendation/s

2.1. Corporate Parenting Committee is asked to:

2.1.1. Note the contents of the report.
2.1.2. Confirm that members are able to attend the corporate parentig 

training as set out at para 5.15

3. Reasons for Recommendation/s

3.1. The Corporate Parenting Committee is as advisory group to the Cabinet and, 
as such, needs to be aware of any national or local issues that are likely to 
impact on cared for children and care leavers. The Corporate Parenting 
Committee need to be able to scrutinise and challenge performance to 
improve outcomes for cared for children and young people.

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. None; this is an update report.

5. Background

National Developments

Fostering Better Outcomes

5.1. Fostering Better Outcomes sets out the government’s response to two reports 
into foster care: The Education Select Committee Inquiry into Fostering and 
the Foster Care in England report, an independent review commissioned by 

Version 
Number: 1



OFFICIAL

the Department for Education. The response describes the government’s 
vision for foster care and improvements for the system, based on the 
recommendations of the two reports. Both reports state clearly that, for many 
children and young people, foster care provides the protective environment 
that they need to develop and thrive.

5.2. The paper sets out a vision for foster care, ie:

Our vision is for all children in foster care to have stable lives, establish 
trusted relationships, to feel cared for and to benefit from high quality foster 
care for as long as they need it. We want a care system in which children and 
young people can experience a ‘normal life’ and to have the opportunities that 
other children have access to. Children’s needs – and views – should be the 
driving force for all decisions made about their care.

5.3. To achieve this vision, the paper sets out five overarching ambitions:

 Children are listened to and involved in decisions about their lives
 Foster parents receive the support and respect they need and deserve to 

care for children
 There are enough high quality fostering placements, in the right place, at 

the right time
 LAs commission placements according to the needs of the child
 Children experience stability regardless of permanence plan

Unaccompanied asylum seeking children (UASC)

5.4. The Department for Education is funding, and has commissioned the Refugee 
Council and ECPAT (Every Child Protected against Trafficking), to deliver 
training aimed at foster carers and support workers who work with 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC).  This training is not aimed 
at social workers.  Both directly employed fosterers and independent foster 
agencies may be nominated for the training: the decision as to whom to 
nominate rests with the local authorities. Cheshire East fostering service have 
a number of foster carers who have been assigned to attend the training. 

5.5. Also, the Home Office has revised its guidance on asylum seekers with care 
needs. The Home Office summarises the effect of the new guidance as 
follows:

 It is updated to reflect the provisions of the Care Act 2014.
 It sets a clear expectation that people with urgent care needs who claim 

asylum should be referred at point of claim to the relevant local authority for 
a needs assessment.  the local authority will need to conduct the needs 
assessment before the person can be considered for asylum 
accommodation.

 It clarifies that, once the needs assessment has been conducted, the local 
authority will need to provide accommodation only if the person would be 



OFFICIAL
3

unsuitable for asylum accommodation. Otherwise (assuming the person is 
eligible) it will be asylum accommodation.

 It provides that a copy of the needs assessment will be sent to the 
accommodation provider with the dispersal request.  The provider will 
therefore be better informed on the person’s needs when allocating 
accommodation and will be able to liaise directly where appropriate with the 
local authority that conducted the assessment as well as the local authority 
in the dispersal area.   

5.6. The new policy is designed to improve the service for asylum seekers with 
care needs, and reduce problems in the system whereby their needs may not 
be met due to difficulties in getting local authorities to take responsibility for 
assessing them.  A major factor behind this was the LAs’ perception under the 
previous policy that assessing an asylum seeker’s care needs would result in 
the LA having to accommodate the person, even if the person did not need 
specialist accommodation. The revised policy addresses that concern such 
that LAs should understand that what they are expected to do in relation to 
asylum seekers’ care needs is essentially the same as they would for any 
other person in the same circumstances.  

5.7. Under the revised policy, in cases with urgent needs the LA at point of claim is 
expected to conduct the initial assessment, and to be responsible for 
accommodating the small number of cases where the person cannot live 
independently and needs social services accommodation.  For those who can 
live independently (with care and adaptations as necessary) the information 
should flow through from the start of the system to help ensure the person’s 
needs are understood, that suitable IA and DA are provided, and that the 
relevant LAs will be providing for the person’s care needs.  This should also 
mean that our accommodation providers will be better informed on cases with 
care needs, and be more able to liaise with relevant local services and to 
make better allocations.

The admission into school of children previously in state care outside of 
England (DfE guidance)

5.8. On 4 December 2017, the Minister of State for School Standards wrote to all 
local authorities and admission authorities about giving priority in their 
oversubscription criteria to children who have previously been in state care 
outside of England and have ceased to be in state care as a result of being 
adopted. The key points are:

 School admission authorities are currently required to give looked after 
children and previously looked after children highest priority in their 
oversubscription criteria. On 4 December 2017, the Minister announced 
that when the opportunity arises he intends to amend the School 



OFFICIAL

Admissions Code (the Code) to ensure that children who were previously 
in state care outside of England, and have ceased to be in state care as a 
result of being adopted, also receive the same highest priority for 
admission into a school in England. 

 Until such a time, however, the Minister wishes admission authorities to 
introduce oversubscription criteria to give these children second highest 
priority for admission into school. Any changes to admission 
arrangements will need to be consulted upon in the normal way.  

 By children previously in state care outside of England, they mean 
children who have been looked after outside of England by a public 
authority, a religious organisation or another provider of care whose sole 
purpose is to benefit society. The care may have been provided in 
orphanages or other settings. 

 Admission authorities must ensure that they apply their oversubscription 
criteria fairly and lawfully. In the case of children adopted from state care 
overseas, admission authorities will want to satisfy themselves that a child 
is eligible by asking the child’s parents for appropriate evidence of their 
previously looked-after status.

 As state care systems around the world vary greatly, some having more 
formal arrangements than others, the evidence provided by parents may 
vary. Admission authorities should take a pragmatic approach and be 
flexible in terms of what evidence they require from parents. Where 
parents are, for good reason, unable to provide clear evidence of their 
child’s previously looked after status, admission authorities will need to 
use their professional judgement and common sense in deciding whether 
a child should be regarded as adopted from state care overseas. 

 Admission authorities may find it helpful to work with other admission 
authorities in the area, the local authority and local Virtual School Heads 
to agree a consistent approach.

Local Developments

Local Offer for Care Leavers

5.9. A co-produced event to develop the Local Offer for Care Leavers took place in 
July 2018.  This event raised awareness of the need for the Local Offer and 
enabled a range of services, including partners, to make a ‘pledge’ of what 
their service can offer. Actions are underway to pull this together ready to 
launch online from October 2018. 

Being a Good Corporate Parent

5.10. The first meeting of the workstream to develop priority 1 of the new Corporate 
Parenting Strategy, ‘Being a Good Corporate Parent’ met in August.  One of 
the areas the group considered is ‘what makes a good corporate parent?’  Cllr 
Gill Merry is a member of this group and will present the findings of this group 
to Committee.



OFFICIAL
5

Adoption Annual Report and Formal Review of the Regional Adoption Agency

5.11. The Adoption Annual Report, along with a formal review of the Regional 
Adoption Agency (RAA), will be reported to the Children and Families 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 24th September (1.30-4pm in the 
Committee Rooms).  Corporate Parenting Committee members are 
encouraged to attend for these items.

Changing the Language for Young People in Care

5.12. The language of the care system can often be negative and, as a result, send 
the wrong messages to children and young people in the care system. A new 
dictionary of care which changes this narrative to a more positive one could 
make a significant impact. The Adolescent and Children’s Trust (TACT) is 
working with the NHS, ADCS, the LGA, foster carers and children and young 
people to change the language of care.  Cheshire East has volunteered to be 
part of this project and to feed in My Voice’s view of children in care in 
Cheshire East. TACT’s ambassador, the poet Solomon OB, has agreed to 
write a spoken word piece based on the dictionary which will be used to 
launch it.

Corporate Parenting Identity

5.13. As part of our work to improve the awareness and responsibility around 
corporate parenting, we have been working with a local company to develop a 
‘corporate parenting identity’.  This includes a logo and design that is instantly 
recognisable as corporate parenting.  This will be presented to the November 
Committee.

Member Training

5.14. Member training will go ahead on 12th October.  Morning and afternoon 
sessions will take place in Macclesfield and Westfields. Corporate Parenting 
Committee members are expected to make every effort to attend one of these 
sessions as this training will be necessary and support members in 
undertaking their frontline visits within various aspects of the service.

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

Legal advice will be sought, as appropriate, upon all relevant emerging issues.

6.2. Finance Implications

There are no direct financial implications of this report.

6.3. Equality Implications



OFFICIAL

There are no equality implications as a result of this paper.  

6.4. Human Resources Implications

There are no direct financial implications of this report.

6.5. Risk Management Implications

Cared for children and care leavers are a vulnerable group that are at risk of a 
number of factors – poor education and training, health, safeguarding and 
transition into adulthood.

6.6. Rural Communities Implications

None.

6.7. Implications for Children & Young People 

6.7.1. The contents of this report have implications for cared for children and 
care leavers, who are some of Cheshire East’s most vulnerable 
children.

6.8. Public Health Implications

6.8.1. There are no direct implications for public health.

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1. Although the number of Cheshire East cared for children and young people is 
relatively small, they are a vulnerable cohort, who live across Cheshire East 
and in other local authority areas.

8. Consultation & Engagement

8.1. None.

9. Access to Information

9.1. None.

10.Contact Information

10.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Kerry Birtles
Job Title: Head of Cared for Children & Care Leavers
Email: kerry.birtles@cheshireeast.gov.uk

mailto:kerry.birtles@cheshireeast.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous meeting
	Minutes

	5 Independent Reviewing Officer Annual Report, 2016-17
	6 Corporate Parenting Performance Scorecard
	Copy of Corporate Parenting Scorecard Q4 17-18 V7

	8 Corporate Parenting Update

